
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD AGENDA 
 
 
Tuesday, 20 September 2022 at 2.00 pm in the Whickham Room - Civic Centre 
 
From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey 
Item 
 

Business 
  

1   Apologies  
  

2   Minutes of last meeting and Action List (Pages 3 - 12) 
  

3   The Independent Review of Children's Social Care (Pages 13 - 28) 
 
Presentation attached 
  

4   Health of Looked After Children Annual Report (Pages 29 - 34) 
 
Report attached 
  

5   Initiatives in Schools (Pages 35 - 40) 
 
Report attached 
  

6   Missing from Care Annual Report (Pages 41 - 54) 
 
Report attached 
  

7   Sufficiency Strategy (Pages 55 - 76) 
 
Strategy attached 
  

8   Financial Support Offer to Care Experienced Young People (Pages 77 - 86) 
 
Report attached 
  

9   Work of Young Ambassadors (Pages 87 - 90) 
 
Report attached 
  

10   Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 
Tuesday 20 December 2022 at 2pm 
 

 
 

Contact: Rosalyn Patterson, Tel: 0191 433 2088,  
Email: rosalynpatterson@gateshead.gov.uk Date: Monday 12 September 2022 

Public Document Pack

mailto:rosalynpatterson@gateshead.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD MEETING 
 

Tuesday, 24 May 2022 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Gary Haley (Chair) Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Freda Geddes Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Hazel Weatherley Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Sheila Gallagher Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Ian Patterson Gateshead Council 
 Dr Kate Ward CNTW 
 Sarah Diggle Secondary School Governors 
 Andrea Houlahan Deputy Strategic Director for Children 

Social Care and Early Help 
 Deborah Ewart Housing 
 Chris Hulme Children's Rights Officer 
 Alison Ferguson CCG 
 Ben Van Wagtendonk Gateshead Council 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Suzanne Storey Gateshead Council 
 Gary Lewis Gateshead Council 
 Claire Morris Gateshead Council 
 Maxine Duffy Gateshead NHS Foundation Trust 
 
  
1 APOLOGIES  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Jean Thompson, Victoria McKay, Jill 

Little, Lynne Colledge, Cllr Angela Douglas, Moira Richardson and Linda Hubbucks. 
  

2 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING  
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2022 were agreed as a correct record. 
  
Matters Arising 
  
It was noted that officers will look at creating an Action Plan to go alongside the 
minutes to identify actions, outcomes and progress to be reported on at each 
meeting. 
  
It was suggested that a discussion be held at the next meeting around the findings of 
the Josh MacAlister Care Review which has recently been published. 
  

3 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW  
 

 The Board received the performance report for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2022. 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

It was reported that at the end of March 2022 there were 485 LAC, a 10.2% increase 
from the same point last year.  Research undertaken showed a national increase in 
demand on social care services, which was further complicated by the pandemic. It 
was confirmed that services are still seeing the impact of Covid 19 with significant 
pressures emerging as a result.   
  
Although there has been a slight decrease (1.6%) in the overall number of contacts 
received there has still been an increase of 21% in the number of those contacts 
progressing to a Social Care referral. 
  
There has been a 14.2% increase in the number of children open across the service 
and an 11.6% increase in the number of Child Protection Plans.  There has also 
been a 14.8% increase in the number of children becoming looked after for the first 
time. 
  
There has been a 2.4% decrease in the number of children on Interim Care Orders 
but a 4.9% increase in children on Full Care Orders. 
  
It was noted that the number of children becoming looked after for the first time has 
increased, however overall has remained fairly static over the last five years.  Of this 
cohort 72.5% were previously subject to a CPP which indicates that most children do 
not enter care without having had support provided to try and avoid entry to care. 
  
In terms of children becoming looked after for a second or subsequent time has 
decreased slightly from the previous year. 
  
As at December 2021 47.4% of placements were outside of Gateshead, this is a 
slight increase on the previous year end figure. The number of LAC in non-
Gateshead provision is static at 19.5%. 
  
In terms of legal status it was reported that there has been an increase in the 
number of full care orders, a significant increase in Section 20 voluntary agreements 
and a slight decrease in the number of children on Interim Care Orders. 
  
It was noted that the age profile of LAC shows similar proportions across most age 
groups, however there has been a large increase in the 0-4 years age group, a 40% 
increase on last year’s figures. 
  
The number of LAC in three or more placements continues on a downward trend 
and is below local and national averages. Long term placement stability, which 
measures LAC for 2.5 years or more in the same placement for at least two years, 
has increased very slightly by 0.8% to 71.9%. This is above the national and 
regional averages. 
  
The number of children who have ceased to be looked after has increased slightly 
on last year. 33.5% of these children returned home, 21.7% as a result of turning 18, 
27.3% had Special Guardianship Orders and 9.3% had Adoption Orders. Child 
Arrangement Orders accounted for 4.3% of children ceasing to be looked after. 
  
It was concluded that demand has increased across the service but that stability 

Page 4



 

continues to be a strength. It was confirmed that a deeper dive will be taken into this 
going forward in order to better focus resources. 
  
It was questioned as to whether there would have been increased pressures on the 
service without Covid. It was confirmed that over the last two years there has been 
an increase in children requiring care and support in their home, there has been 
increased numbers of referrals linked to Covid due to isolation and impact of that on 
mental health, financial crisis leading to deprivation and poverty.  It was confirmed 
that this is also the national picture.  It was also noted that there are higher 
proportion of children living with extended families who the service also supports. It 
was acknowledged that the last two years have been extremely challenging in terms 
of resources. 
  
It was questioned how Gateshead’s figures compare to other local authorities in 
relation to the number of children in care outside of the area.  It was noted that these 
figures would be brought back once the new system was fully embedded and 
regional benchmarking has taken place. 
  
It was questioned as to whether the increase in 0-4 age group coming into care was 
consistent with other areas.  It was confirmed that this position is not unique to 
Gateshead, a pre-birth service has been developed with is led by Victoria McKay, as 
other authorities have teams working intensely with pregnant women to break the 
cycle.  Further information will be brought back to the Board as this develops. 
  
RESOLVED    -       To note the contents of the report and receive further  

information on the areas requested. 
  

4 GAP ANALYSIS - UNPLANNED TEENAGE PREGNANCY AMONGST CARE 
EXPERIENCED YOUNG PEOPLE  
 

 The Board received a report on the GAP analysis undertaken to identify any service 
improvements that may lead to a reduction in unplanned teenage pregnancy 
amongst looked after children. 
  
Between July and October 2021 two questionnaires were circulated, one for 
professionals and carers and the other for young people.  116 responses were 
received from carers and professionals and 110 from young people.  Of the young 
people who responded some were not care experienced, the majority of responses 
were from males. 
  
The findings from the questionnaires showed that the large majority of responders 
received sex education at school and 90% felt that this was the right place to receive 
such information.  Of those who responded to the question around who the correct 
person was to deliver Sex and Relationship Education (SRE), the majority felt this 
should be school. However, it was noted that nationally there are 12.5% of young 
people not in education so there are many missed opportunities in terms of 
delivering SRE for those young people not attending school. 
  
Confidentiality was seen as a barrier with 23% of young people who responded 
stating they were worried that their personal data would not be kept private. 

Page 5



 

  
In terms of the professional survey, a wide range of groups responded including 
GPs, Social Workers, Youth Workers and carers. The vast majority of these 
professionals considered part of their role was to provide sexual health advice to 
young people. 
  
From the recommendations a number of changes have already been made, such as 
PDF leaflets on contraception and sexual health now being available. Other 
recommendations outlined the responsibility of SRE on all corporate parents, 
information sharing between GPs and services and Social Workers to identify any 
young people not in education to ensure provision is in place to address sexual 
health needs. 
  
It was questioned as to whether many young people are accessing unfiltered advice 
through the internet. The Board was reassured that the majority of young people 
stated that they were getting their information from school. 
  
RESOLVED    -       That the Board considered and noted the recommendations  

from the GAP analysis.  
  

5 CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING AND CHILD EXPLOITATION  
 

 The Board received a report on the response by the service to children and young 
people linked to contextual safeguarding and child exploitation. 
  
It was reported that at its focussed visit in September 2021, Ofsted did challenge the 
service on its approach to young people’s experiences of significant harm beyond 
their families.  Following this challenge, officers spoke to colleagues from across the 
country around their approach and also Durham University has recently been 
appointed as world leading expert on the issue and is looking at different models. 
  
It was acknowledged that there are a lot of resources within the service and there is 
a proposed model which does not require additional resources. It is proposed that 
the contextual safeguarding team will be allocated case responsibility from the point 
of initial referral where there is a need for intervention due to the young person 
experiencing harm beyond their families. The team will comprise of Social Workers 
with a case load of no more than 16 per social worker. They will work intensively 
with families to offer parenting support, this will be out of office hours as well, and it 
is envisaged that involvement will be no longer than 12 months.  It was noted that 
this would involve realignment of current resources within the service. 
  
It was questioned how a caseload of 16 cases per social worker compares to a 
normal caseload.  It was confirmed that this varies depending on the nature of cases 
but that a caseload policy is in place which puts a maximum cap of 25 cases per 
worker. This is reviewed on a weekly basis but remains a challenge due to the 
increase in demand. 
  
The Board asked what would happen if parents did not engage. It was noted that 
this is the crux of social work practice and it is important in these situations for social 
workers to be tenacious. 

Page 6



 

  
It was reported that in terms of the Social Workers in Schools model, they are 
currently being upskilled on exploitation so they can be an informal basis of support 
through pastoral support as some families do not want social work intervention. 
  
RESOLVED    -           That the Board considered the proposals set out in the report. 
  

6 GATESHEAD SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 The Annual Report was received for information. 
  

7 CHILD PROTECTION AND CHILDREN IN NEED ANNUAL JOINT REPORT  
 

 The Board received the Child Protection and Children in Need Annual Joint Report. 
It was noted that in Gateshead there is Tier 2 and Tier 3 services; tier 2 is the Early 
Help offer and Tier 3 is the statutory intervention services that cover CIN and CP 
Plans. 
  
Cases are triaged by the multi-agency safeguarding thresholds and assessed as to 
what support is required. If they do not meet the thresholds they would still be 
signposted to other services if there was a need there. 
  
In terms of the bespoke Edge of Care offer, the team continues to work to prevent 
those teenagers who have difficult family relationships from coming into care of 
becoming subject to a Child Protection Plan. This is through wraparound support, 
parenting intervention, working with young people, non-attenders at school and 
education provisions. 
  
The number of children requiring Social Workers has increased and complexities of 
these cases have increased. It was acknowledged that there is a mental health crisis 
and parents are struggling and families are experiencing loss.  There has been an 
increase in domestic violence during lockdown, which children and young people 
have been witnessing.  The service is not seeing a decrease in the number of 
referrals and the end of the impact of the pandemic is not being seen.  As a result of 
the pandemic a lot of early intervention has not happened and more children have 
ended up in care as a result.  
  
It was noted that the practice model continues to develop and evolve and the Quality 
Improvement Group continues to look at the framework.  There has been a lot of 
audit work undertaken and the new recording system in Mosaic can do a lot more in 
terms of showing more clearer a child’s journey. 
  
It was reported that the number of Children in Need at the end of 2021/22 was 1979 
on plans, compared to 1505 in 2018/19, which is a significant increase. The point 
was made that the full impact of the cost of living increases has not yet been seen to 
it is anticipated that the figures will increase further. 
  
It was questioned whether there has been an increase in families who don’t have 
English as their first language, such as refugee families presenting. It was confirmed 
that the service has not seen an increase in these families nor has it seen families 

Page 7



 

who do not have access to public resources presenting. It was acknowledged that 
early intervention work is carried out with a lot of these groups of people so it is 
hoped that the impact of that work means they will not require tier 3 intervention or 
support.  The point was made however that it is still early days in terms of the 
Ukraine crisis, with refugees only just starting to arrive in Gateshead, this will 
continue to be monitored.  
  
RESOLVED    -           That the Board considered and noted the report. 
  

8 REDUCING THE NUMBER OF CHILDREN REQUIRING CARE STRATEGY  
 

 The Board received a report on the recently approved strategy; ‘Reducing the 
number of children requiring care’. 
  
The main objectives of the strategy are; to keep families together safely, develop 
enough and affordable high quality placement options and achieving permanence 
quickly. 
  
The strategy was written with the purpose to prevent children unnecessarily coming 
into care if it is not the most appropriate option for that child. There is a high number 
of kinship carers in Gateshead, these carers have a close link with the child. 
  
It was noted that there has been an increase in the number of children requiring a 
high level of intervention when they had not previously been in contact with the 
service. 
  
It was noted that the Strategy has been agreed by Cabinet and therefore a report 
would be brought back to a future meeting to look at the impact of this strategy. 
  
RESOLVED    -       That the Strategy be noted and a further report be presented to  

the Board at a later date on the impact of the strategy. 
   

9 BENCHMARKING THE CARE EXPERIENCED SERVICE  
 

 The Board received a report on the benchmarking exercised undertaken in relation 
to the care experienced young people’s service. 
  
The Leaving Care Team Manager met with one of the newly appointed Young 
Ambassadors to go through their experience of being in care. The self-assessment 
checklist was worked through and identified how Gateshead performed on each 
point and which areas required further development. 
  
Benchmarking against other local authorities in the area showed that Gateshead 
offers a broad range of support which is reassuring. 
  
Darlington recently received an excellent focussed visit and officers from Gateshead 
made contact with Darlington officers to see what type of support they were offering. 
Currently Darlington Council use their taster flats for 6 weeks at a time to allow 
young people to understand the practicalities of living alone and in between these 
times they use the flats to undertake preparation for independence work with young 

Page 8



 

people aged 16-18. 
  
Work is ongoing to look at the possibility of a Community Psychiatric Nurse having 
some time within the service to support young people and offer some clinical 
supervision to PA’s.  This is a successful model operating in Darlington currently. 
  
As part of a Digital Me Project one of the barriers to living independently was 
highlighted as affordability of travel, this included to attend essential appointment. 
Therefore a 12 month pilot for free travel for care experienced 18-25 year olds 
throughout the region has been secured. This amounts to £350 per year for 133 
young people. 
  
It was noted that pre-Covid there was a good drop in support offer, work is 
continuing with young people around what they would like to see and looking at 
activities to build connections and improve wellbeing.  In terms of monitoring this it 
was noted that this would be part of the remit of the Inspection Preparation Group. 
  
It was requested that the Board be assured that none of the care experienced young 
people are on pre-paid gas and electric metres and that none of them are paying 
water rates. It was confirmed that this would be looked at and picked up in the 
financial report which is due to the next Board meeting in September.  
  
It was suggested that a seminar be held for all Councillors on this subject. 
  
RESOLVED    -           That the report be noted and proposals agreed. 
  

10 CHILDREN'S HOMES UPDATE AND REG 44 VISITS REPORT  
 

 The Board received the quarterly report in relation to Children’s Homes inspections 
and visits for the period January 2022 to March 2022. 
  
It was reported that all four homes are due to be inspected by the end of the 
summer, at present no monitoring visits are held because all homes were found to 
be good so Ofsted revisit on an annual basis. 
  
The Regulation 44 Visitor is independent from the local authority and visits on a 
monthly basis. They speak to young people and partners and provide 
recommendations. 
  
It was questioned as to the Council’s responsibility for homes in the area that are not 
run by the Council but by external agencies and organisations. It was confirmed that 
private homes can open anywhere and be ran by private providers as long as they 
are Ofsted registered. The responsibility on the local authority only comes when they 
place a child in that provision. It was confirmed that local authorities are required to 
notify another local authority if they are placing a child in that local authority area, 
however this does not always routinely happen.  It was also noted that if a home 
opened in the borough the service would try to ensure that they take Gateshead 
children, however this would only be if necessary as such placements are 
expensive. 
  

Page 9



 

It was suggested that case studies from young people living in children’s homes 
would be useful for future reports. 
  
RESOLVED    -           That the Board noted the content of the report. 
  

11 CHILDREN LIVING IN 'OUT OF AREA' AND 'AT A DISTANCE' PLACEMENTS  
 

 The Board received a report for information in relation to ‘out of area’ and ‘at a 
distance’ placements.  It was noted that these placements are usually as they are 
the safest for that child, this could be in terms of access to specialist provision and 
resources that are not available in the area. It was noted that in future reports, maps 
of placements could be included. 
  
These placements are monitored very closely so that the authority knows how to 
support them. There is a financial impact as a result of such placements as these 
can be very expensive.  The service tries to support Gateshead children and young 
people in-house as far as possible but currently need outweighs local resource. 
  
It was reported that for cases where a child is placed outside of the area this 
requires Director sign off, therefore there is a lot of scrutiny on those decisions. 
  
It was requested that a cost breakdown of various placements be included in a 
future report. 
  
RESOLVED    -           That the Board noted the content of the report. 
  

12 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 Tuesday 20 September 2022 at 2pm 
 

 
 
 

Page 10



Corporate Parenting Board 
 

Action No From Meeting: Action Log By Whom Date By Action Status 
1 24/05/2022 To provide an update on the outcomes of the 

Josh MacAlister Care Review to further 
discussions at the next meeting 

A Houlahan 
/ S Park 

20/09/22 
(next 
meeting of 
the CPB) 

In Progress 

2 24/05/2022 To provide up to date figures and comparators 
of out of area placements 

G Lewis 20/12/2022 
(next 
performance 
report) 

In Progress 

3 24/05/2022 To provide Board with an update on the 
development of a pre-birth service 

V McKay 6 months 
(scheduled 
for 
20/12/2022 
meeting) 

In Progress 

4 24/05/2022 Circulate ‘Reducing the number of children 
requiring care’ strategy 

R Patterson ASAP Completed  

5 24/05/2022 To provide a report on the impact of the 
‘Reducing the number of children requiring care’ 
strategy 

S Storey 28/02/2022 
(last CPB 
meeting of 
the 
municipal 
year)? Or 
May 
2023?? 

In progress 

6 24/05/2022 Organise a seminar for all Councillors around 
benchmarking of the care experienced service 

B Van 
Wagtendonk 

TBC 
(liaise with 
Helen Wade 
re Seminar 
timetable) 

In progress 

7 24/05/2022 Include case studies from young people living in 
Children’s Homes in the next Regulation 44 
report 

C Morris 20/12/2022 
(next reg 44 
report) 

In progress 

P
age 11



Corporate Parenting Board 
 

8 24/05/2022 Include a cost breakdown of various placements 
in future report 

C Morris 20/09/2022 
(to be 
included in 
the 
Placement 
Sufficiency 
Annual 
Report?) 

In progress 

 

P
age 12



The independent 
review of 

children’s social 
care

A summary of the final report

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 3



Background to 
the review

The aim of the review was to put forth recommendations for 
a system that:

provides intensive help to families in crisis

acts decisively in response to abuse

unlocks the potential of wider family networks to raise 
children

puts lifelong loving relationships at the heart of the care 
system

lays the foundations for a good life for those who have 
been in care.

The final report and supporting evidence were published in 
May 2022. Findings were divided into nine key sections

P
age 14



Reset children’s 
social care

The problem: a failure to 
recognise relationships 

and the strength of 
families

The children’s social care system is 
facing increased pressure with less 

resources and a shrinking 
workforce. 

The current way of working by 
managing risks, responding to 

episodic need, and having high 
thresholds to access help, may be 

restricting the purpose of social 
care to ‘rescuing’ children, and 

keeping services from meeting the 
needs of families.

Principles and approach 
of the review: for reforms 
to be successful, there 

needs to be:

clear objectives from national 
government on children’s social 

care

a system that works to meet 
children’s and families’ needs rather 

than making them fit the system

greater transparency, new 
mechanisms for learning and better 

inspection and intervention

a highly skilled and knowledgeable 
workforce and better multiagency 

working

The review suggests that the issues facing the social care 
system can only be addressed through a “radical reset”.

P
age 15



A Revolution 
in Family Help

Brings together Early Help and CIN 
(S17)

Multidisciplinary Family Help Teams 
based in community settings

Much higher levels of meaningful 
support

Clear national definition of eligibility 
and the outcomes for Family HelpFamily 

Help

Early 
Help

Child in 
Need

P
age 16



Child Protection System

more generous multidisciplinary help offer

strengthened multi-agency arrangements

clearer expectations on multiagency capabilities for child 
protection

response to harm outside of the home through a “Child 
Community Safety Plan”

Using technology to achieve frictionless sharing of 
information

improved workforce knowledge and skills

A just and 
decisive child 
protection 
system

P
age 17



Unlocking the 
potential of 
family networks

• introducing a new legal right to family decision making
• introducing a Family Network Plan to support care from 

wider family networks.

Making better use of family networks

• introducing a new legal definition of kinship care
• giving kinship carers the financial and practical support 

they need to care for children without having to register 
as foster carers.

Backing kinship carers

• making contact arrangements between birth parents, 
adopted children and adoptive parents the default

• facilitating technology-enabled methods of contact.

Modernising adoption

Kinship carers need greater recognition and support in the children’s 
social care system. Changes needed include:

P
age 18



Transforming care

Setting out new care standards
• Replacing all current, and applicable to all homes for 

children

Creating Regional Care Cooperatives (RCCs)
• responsible for planning, running, and commissioning 

care provision in the region

Increasing focus on foster care
• National recruitment campaign and access to training 

and support (NCSCF)
• Delegated authority by default

Creating a new legal right to advocacy
• Replace a number of existing roles with truly 

independent advocacy for children that is opt-out, 
rather than opt-in

P
age 19



The care 
experience

Five Ambitious Missions

• Loving Relationships
• Quality Education
• A Decent Home
• Fulfilling Work 
• Good Health As The Foundations For A Good Life

A wider range of organisations to act as 
corporate parents for looked after children

The UK should be the first country in the world 
to recognise the care experience as a 
protected characteristic

P
age 20



Realising the 
potential of 
the workforce

Professional development which provides a five year early career 
framework. 

Social work leadership required to continue working directly with 
children and families. 

Improving case management systems, reducing repetitive 
administrative tasks

Embedding multidisciplinary teams at the heart of local communities 
who deliver, not just commission. 

A knowledge and skills statement for family support workers, a 
leadership programme and professional registration for children’s 
home managers

Reduce the use of agency social work by developing new rules and 
regional staff banks. 

P
age 21



A system 
focused on 
children and 
families

National Children’s Social Care Framework

•Setting out objectives and outcomes, direction and purpose
•Meaningful indicators

National Practice Group to build practice guides, 
transparency and learning. 

Strategic role of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
clarified beyond doubt..

Schools should be included as a statutory safeguarding 
partner.

Inspection should be more child focused and have greater 
transparency about how judgements are made. 

Permanent Regional Improvement Commissioners to 
oversee progress across regions. 

A National Data and Technology Taskforce

3 priority actions:
1.Reduce social worker time spent recording; 
2.Frictionless sharing of information; 
3.Improving data collection and its use in informing decisions

P
age 22



Implementation

a single five-year reform programme

Oversight from the Secretary of State for 
Education, who will be responsible for holding 
others to account and reporting to parliament 
on progress.

£2.6 billion of new spending over four years

Steps needed to achieve proposed reforms, include:

P
age 23



Government 
response

The government has set out initial measures in response to 
the review, including:

setting up a new National 
Implementation Board of sector experts 
and people with experience of the care 
system

implementing a new evidence-based 
framework for all professionals working in 
children's social care

(DfE and Office of the Children's Commissioner, 2022)

P
age 24



It’s Our Care - Day of Action

On 22 June, over 100 care-experienced young people travelled to Parliament 
to speak directly with decision-makers about what needs to change in the 
care system. 

This Day of Action was part of the #ItsOurCare campaign, a joint campaign 
with seven children’s charities: Become, NSPCC, Action for Children, National 
Children’s Bureau, Coram Voice, Children’s Society, and Barnardos.

Young people shared their expert views and ideas with MPs and government 
ministers, calling on them to listen to – and act upon – the experiences of the 
80,000 children in the care system today.

P
age 25



Gateshead was represented by 2 of our young 
ambassadors who were involved in a meeting with 
the Children’s Commissioner, the Secretary of State 
for Education, and the Chief Secretary to the Treasury

Discussed the biggest issues within the care system –
from the need for more support for younger children 
and the vital importance of early help, to value of 
knowing their rights and what avenues of support are 
available for children in care and care leavers.

Other areas highlighted during the day were how 
every year, 1 in 3 children in care have to move home 
at least once, and many have to move multiple times. 
Also, 41% of care leavers between the ages of 19 and 
21 aren’t in employment or education, compared to 
just 12% of other young people.

P
age 26



We’re not care-leavers, 
we’re care-experienced.. 
care can’t leave us.. it’s 

part of our identity

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

DATE 20th September 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Health and Wellbeing of Looked After Children 
 
 
Executive Summary  
 
This report gives an overview of the work undertaken and planned, to meet statutory 
requirements and to support the health and wellbeing of Looked After children / Children 
in our care and by association care leavers/ care experienced young people in 
Gateshead. It also outlines to organisational changes in the NHS structures that came 
into force in July 2022 relating to commissioning of specialist health services to meet the 
needs of Children in care.  
 
 
 
Purpose of the Report  
1. To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the delivery of services 

supporting the health and wellbeing of Looked After Children/ Children in our care 
in Gateshead. 
 

2. To update Gateshead Corporate Parenting Board on the progress achieved against 
the key objectives, within Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group 
(NGCCG) Looked After Children Strategy 2019-2022.  

 

3. Extracts from NGCCG Looked After Children / Children in Care Annual Report 
2021-22 will outline the key components relating to Gateshead and an update on 
recent progress, April 2022 onwards, will be given including the impact of 
organisational change from NGCCG to North East and North Cumbria Integrated 
Care Board (NENCICB)  on 1st July 2022.  

 

4. Updates will be given on the delivery and achievement against Key performance 
indicators (KPIs) for health and against the statutory functions undertaken by the 
Looked After Children Health Team commissioned by NGCCG /NENCICB as 
outlined in their Annual Report.(Appendix 1)   

 
5. Updates on service delivery pertaining to the emotional and mental health needs of 

the Looked After Children population will be extracted from information provided by 
colleagues in Cumbria Northumbria Tyne & Wear (CNTW) Children and Young 
Peoples Services (CYPs)  

 
 
Background 
 
6. Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (NGCCG) had responsibility 

to fulfil the role of meeting the statutory health needs of looked after children by 
having appropriate arrangements and resources in place (DoH / DfE 2015). These 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



 

 2 

responsibilities transferred to North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board 
(NENCICB) on 1st July 2022.  
 

7. NENCICB now commission the statutory roles of Designated Nurse Looked After 
Children who are employed by the ICB, the Designated Doctor Looked After 
Children and the Looked After Children Health Team who are employed by 
Gateshead Health Foundation Trust (GHFT)  

 
8. Since the last report to the Corporate Parenting Panel in December 2021 the 

number of children and young people becoming cared for has steadily increased. 
(Table 1) There continues to be some disruption to appointments due to Covid 
infections but this is reducing and is managed well by the health team. 

Table 1 Number of Children in Care Gateshead April 21- July 22 

 
 

9. An increase in activity was measured for health assessments 2021-22. 178 Initial 
health assessments (+17%) and 436 Review health assessments (+4.5%) were 
completed in this period. 
 

10. An ongoing plan is in place to improve the overall timeframe for Initial Health 
Assessments. At end of March 2022 (Table 2) this timeframe was measured at 
64.1%, a slight reduction on the previous year (65.3%). Clinic appointments were 
provided to 89% within 28 days of consent. The CCG target for both of these 
elements is 95%.   

 

Table 2 IHA timeframes 2021-22 

 

 
 

11. End of March 2021 92.4% of review health assessments were completed within the 
month due, a reduction of the previous year (98%). Delays were in those scheduled 
for completion by the 0-19 service, where capacity was an issue, and in those 
requested for completion by external health teams. 
 

Page 30



 

 3 

12. April 2021-March 2022 33 (100%) leaving care health passports were completed 
for young people turning 18. 
  

13. Health Key performance Indicators (KPI's) for physical health 2020-2021 (Table 3) 
were published December 2022. Gateshead achieved higher than the England and 
Northeast returns for completion of health assessments, developmental checks, 
immunisations and dental appointments. Provisional data for 2021-22 indicate a 
slight fall in health assessment completion and immunisations but a rise in dental 
appointments. 

 

 
Table 3 2020-21 Health KPI 

 ENGLAND NORTH-EAST GATESHEAD 
 20-21 20-21 20-21 

ID substance issue 3% 3% 6% 
Health assessment 91% 94% 97% 

Immunisations up to 
date 

86% 89% 94% 

Dental check 40% 43% 55% 
Developmental check 89% 92% 100% 
 
 

14. KPI's published for emotional health and wellbeing 2020-21 (Table 4) based on 
Strength and difficulty screening undertaken by the Local Authority demonstrates 
improvement to the coverage of screening, overall total score, and number of 
children and young people achieving a 'normal' score. The overall score and 
normal results are still lagging behind the England and Northeast average but the 
gap is closing incrementally. Data for 2021-22 were not available at the time of this 
report. 
 
Table 4 2020-21 Emotional health KPI 
 ENGLAND NORTH-EAST GATESHEAD 

 20-21 20-21 18-19 19-20 20-21 
SDQ complete 80% 75% 83% 81%  84% 
Average score 13.7 13.9 15.9 15.3  14.3 

Normal 51% 50% 36% 42%  47% 
Borderline 12% 12% 16% 12%  10% 

Cause for concern 37% 38% 48% 46%  43% 
 

15. Cumbria Northumbria Tyne and Wear (CNTW) Children and Young Peoples 
Service (CYPs) continue to offer consultation sessions. In 2021-22 67 
appointments were requested and offered for Gateshead children an increase on 
56 the previous year. The main theme was emotional wellbeing, with behaviour, 
neurodevelopmental issues, cognitive ability and care planning also recorded as 
reasons for referral. The main outcome recorded was advice, with resources and 
summary letters being shared. Only a small minority required referral or a second 
consultation in this time period. 
 

16. A Trauma informed model to support vulnerable groups has been developed, once 
the service is in place this should offer enhanced the offer to our children and 
young people up to the age of 25.  
 

17. The Specialist Nurse LAC led on a development, in partnership with Sexual Health 
Services in Gateshead, to identify the needs and develop enhance support to our 

Page 31



 

 4 

young people with a key aim of delaying pregnancies. It is reported that there were 
no known pregnancies within the care population 2021-2022.  

 

18. Nurses in the specialist health team recorded attendance at 174 meetings including 
Care team, strategy, and Missing & Sexual exploitation where a total of 486 
children and young people were discussed an increase from 325 the previous year.  

 

19. Key data was once again collected at the time of health assessments. This is 
helpful in identifying needs within this population for example it clearly shows that 
children with Educational and health Care Plans (EHCP) are over represented in 
the care system. There is now several years of data, it is hoped this will 
demonstrate trends and support the profiling of health needs.  

 

20. The Medical advisors for both Adoption and fostering have seen a significant 
increase in activity. The Somerset Judgement in late 2021 required all agencies in 
the adoption process to review procedures and amend where necessary, again this 
has increased activity. Review of the recruitment of the Adoption advisor was also 
reviewed to meet legal requirements. Resources continue to be discussed within 
the NENCICB. 

 

21. The health team reported 12 young people requiring assessment and / or support 
from drug and alcohol services. Substances used were recorded as; cannabis 
nicotine and alcohol 

 

22. Quality remains a keystone of service provision the health team and Designated 
Doctor Lac have undertaken audits of initial and review health assessments and of 
notification to the team of hospital attendances via the Child Protection Information 
Sharing process.  

 

23. Young people were contacted to give views on the sexual health service 
development and on ways to have health assessments completed. A smaller cohort 
of young people worked with the CCG on the care leavers project. 

 

Current position and proposals  
 
24. In Quarter 1, 2022-23, 47.2% of initial health assessments were completed in 

timeframe. Late consent was identified as a main reason for delays, a meeting has 
been held and actions put in place to address this issue and lead improvement, this 
will be monitored closely via multiagency meetings and the Local Authority 
performance clinic.  
 

25. In quarter 1 2022-23 98.2% of review health assessments have been completed 
within the month due exceeding the local target.  

 
26. The team recruited to provide enhanced support around emotional and mental 

health needs to young people in residential settings and to those who care for them 
is now in place. No CNTW consultation data for 2022-23 is available yet.  

Page 32



 

 5 

 
27. A review of the LAC health team and wider service had been undertaken by the 

CCG. This has been helpful in identifying the increase in workload for the team and 
the paediatric service. A proposal has been drafted and will be reviewed and 
responded to by commissioners. An outcome is still awaited.  
  

28. The free travel pass for care experienced young people project continues to be 
developed. It is hoped the passes will be available and distributed in September. It 
has been requested that the leisure passes are also promoted at the time the 
young person signs up for their pass as poor uptake of this offer has recently been 
raise.  
 

29. Regionally it is hoped to develop an enhanced dental service for children in care 
preliminary discussions have taken place and there is a pilot underway in another 
area within the North East. In the interim it is hoped that the provision and uptake of 
appointments continues to recover as Nationally Dental services transform their 
delivery model in which children and vulnerable groups are to be prioritised.  
 

30. Recruitment to the Named Doctor LAC within Gateshead hospitals is ongoing. The 
organisation continues to seek opportunities to incorporate the role into recruitment 
of Paediatric posts. A new Medical Advisor for Adoption has now been appointed. 
The designated Doctor LAC is currently acting as Medical Advisor Fostering to 
ensure the work continues.   
 

31. Training and resources for Primary Care have been developed; A joint session; 
Adult and Children's Safeguarding, Looked after children and care leavers was 
delivered to primary care staff. The health team continue to deliver training to 
practitioners undertaking health assessments and to carers.  

 

32. The NHS England North Region LAC health group continue to meet and this year 
the priorities have been Care Leavers, Strength and difficulty screening and 
transition to ICB. A theme of early deaths in care leaving populations is being 
progressed and a request for a national review process to be considered. Work is 
about to commence on developing an ICB strategy for LAC/ Children in Care. 

 

33. The organisational change to NENCICB occurred on 1st July. This ICB is the 
largest in the country and includes areas of high deprivation with high levels of 
needs. As the organisation develops Designated Professionals for Looked After 
Children are highlighting the needs of our populations and are linking with the Chief 
Nurse and Directors of Nursing at place as a key objective of the organisation is to 
identify and improve outcomes for disadvantaged groups. An ICB strategy for 
Children in care will be developed.  

 

34. The Looked After Children Be Healthy meeting has continued quarterly. It has a 
broad multi agency membership with a rep from the Young Ambassadors and 
Youth Justice recently joining. The action plan links to the broader Corporate 
Parenting Partnership Strategy being mindful of the wider regional and national 
issues and developments while retaining a place-based focus.  

 

 
Page 33



 

 6 

Proposal 
35. It is proposed that the health themes highlighted within this report continue to 

develop and where required improvement is made.  
 
 
Recommendations 
36. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to comment on the content of this report 

and advise on the frequency of future reports  
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact:  
Linda Hubbucks 
North East & North Cumbria Integrated Board  
Designated Nurse Looked After Children  Newcastle & Gateshead. 
Tel Mob: 07769362016 
Email: Linda.hubbucks@nhs.net 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices  
Appendix 1  
 
Gateshead Foundation Trust LAC Annual Report 2021-22.  
 

6.3%20LAC%20Annu
al%20Report%2021-22.%20Final.docx 
 
 
 

Page 34

mailto:Linda.hubbucks@nhs.net


Education report 
Initiatives for schools 

2021-2022 
 
 

The Virtual School (VS) supports schools and settings in Gateshead in a 
number of ways:- 
 

• Providing advice to schools and settings on issues that children and young 
people in care may have in regards to their education. 

• Providing focused training on trauma informed practice 
• Ensuring that those pupils who require it have additional support to help them 

successfully access education. 
• Providing one to one tuition 
• Supporting schools with PEPs and the processes involved. 
• Monitoring educational progress and achievement.  
• Offering schools an experienced education support worker to work with 

children who require additional support. 
 
 
Current focus in schools. 
Virtual Reality Trauma Training for schools 
 
The extended role of the Virtual School Head (VHS) – to support the education of 
all children who have or have had a social worker, has provided the Virtual 
School with additional government funding (which has been extended for a further 
year) and has challenged the VHS to support schools to improve outcomes for this 
cohort of children. The VSH aims to try to make schools the best they can be in 
managing and meeting the needs of children who have experienced Trauma in their 
lives.as we know such trauma can have a detrimental effect on a child’s behaviour 
and overall functioning, in particular the child’s ability to access and make progress 
in education.  This cohort of children includes not only children in care but all those 
who have or have had a social worker.  
The VS has embarked on a comprehensive training programme for all schools and 
colleges and their staff. The training is based on real life experiences through Virtual 
Reality Technology. We are working collaboratively with ANSTER, the company 
providing the VR headsets and supporting evaluation and care studies.  
 
It is the aim of the VSH to train everyone who works with children in care, children in 
need or children on a child protection order. The aim of the training programme is to 
reach ALL staff, including teachers, assistants, front of house staff, care takers, 
technicians etc and senior leaders to help enable all schools, ranging from pre 
schools through all phases up to further education colleges to become more Trauma 
informed and develop good practices and approaches in meeting the needs of this 
vulnerable group of children therefore enabling children to be more successfully 
included, have fewer exclusion from school or managed moves and be encouraged 
to increase attendance, engage in learning and become more successful.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



To date, training has been delivered to all practitioners in Early years Pre school 
settings, four secondary schools, three primary schools, Gateshead College and 
Newcastle college, service leads including social care.  
The programme will continue from September 2022 to March 2023 and  will include 
all primary schools, children homes. It is hoped to include Foster carers, Adopters 
and social care teams if time and funding allows.  
 
A first user report (Kingsmeadow school) is available at the link below. Evaluation of 
the programme is ongoing.  
 
https://doc-04-1o-
docs.googleusercontent.com/docs/securesc/rlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v/7r
j5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6/1661718600000/13806152296473015298/133484
29125702548992Z/1-
9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E?e=download&uuid=9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-
af8a-
ee52bcf12254&nonce=nv25djdb9fkj0&user=13348429125702548992Z&hash=710d
e14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1 
 
 
VS Education support workers 
 
The three VS Education support workers currently have caseloads. Cases are 
identified via PEPs or referrals are submitted from schools and social workers. 
Children and young people who are having difficulty with school attendance or 
accessing education are offered a case worker who will support the young person to 
successfully access education whether it be for academic subjects i.e Maths and 
English and Science or a more broad approach to learning. A close supportive 
approach to develop behaviour for learning is a priority.  
The VS support workers have a range of skills including counselling, therapeutic 
support,  cognitive behavioural therapy and learning support. They have an 
education background and are experienced in working closely with schools and 
school staff.  
 
Education Enrichment Programme (EEP) 
 
This was developed by the VS before and during Covid but was limited in its offer to 
the children in care. Since September 2022 the programme has been operating 
twice weekly in partnership with  Simonside Activity centre in South Shields and is a 
very successful programme.  
Referrals to the programme come from schools and social workers who feel that an 
alternative approach to learning or wider life experiences will help encourage the 
young people to re engage with more formal learning. 
The activity programme includes a range of water sports such as Paddle boarding, 
kayaking, power boating and indoor sports such as climbing and archery and 
outdoor activities such as walking and cycling. The aim of the programme is to help 
develop a range of skills and experiences where the young people learn trust, 
independence, team working, sharing, cooperation and social interaction. These are 
all personal skills that can be transferred to other walks of life, in particular, school.  

Page 36

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoc-04-1o-docs.googleusercontent.com%2Fdocs%2Fsecuresc%2Frlan2rq25e4mrqmgs8ke1jg7oolgbn0v%2F7rj5i19dc6bm7h1lqr7acjihh7v8dnc6%2F1661718600000%2F13806152296473015298%2F13348429125702548992Z%2F1-9kWDcPAjsiBt2zG1_QqnJSogoUjEw7E%3Fe%3Ddownload%26uuid%3D9f37dcc8-7b78-4b0d-af8a-ee52bcf12254%26nonce%3Dnv25djdb9fkj0%26user%3D13348429125702548992Z%26hash%3D710de14s73bu4at1ssg70v5i3ssec6t1&data=05%7C01%7CJeanThompson%40Gateshead.Gov.UK%7C6ff33797a48e41448d6f08da893440f3%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637973154756583916%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BSE54frzDWo1H1tyNmTixnmstiHC1%2BZ%2B5OUHFMcZl3g%3D&reserved=0


The young people gain a range of qualifications not only in various sporting skills but 
also in a range of personal social development. The first successful, well attended 
award ceremony and celebration of achievement took place in July this year.  
We have several success stories of Children in care who were at risk of Permanent 
exclusion from school or not attending, who, after regularly attending the programme 
have successfully re engaged with education and have seen a reduction in 
exclusions. Several have have gone on to successfully gain GCSE’s and entered 
further education.  
The majority of Gateshead’s secondary schools are wholly supportive of the 
programme and the VS has actively supported Furrowfield to develop their own 
enrichment programme.  
 
 
 
Holiday Learning Programme – Big Red Bus 
 
The VS has initiated a summer 2022 activities programme with the support of the 
Children’s Rights Officer, and the Engagement Officer / Quality Assurance and 
Commissioning along with a number of young volunteers from the youth assembly.  
The programme takes place from a Vintage Big Red Bus that has been located at 
two venues in Gateshead and has welcomed a significant number of children and 
young people in care ranging from age 3 to16 on board. It has been available for 
children in care to attend from a Tuesday to a Friday each week of the holidays. 
They have experienced a range of learning activities such as arts and crafts, outdoor 
sports and activities and water sports at South Shields (Fridays only)  
 
 
 
Social worker in schools (SWIS) Pilot programme  
(Contribution to this report by Christopher Walker - Team Manager/ 
senior Practice Supervisor for SWIS) 
 
The Social Workers in Schools programme has  aimed to embed social workers in 
secondary schools to reduce referral rates to children’s social care (CSC) and 
reduce the numbers of Section 17 or Section 47 investigations, along with the 
overarching aim of reducing the number of children in care, and improving 
educational attainment. It is hoped that this will also promote better inter-agency 
working between schools and the children’s social care system. 
 
The SWIS pilot is currently operating in six secondary schools in Gateshead. The 
SWIS pilot has seen Social Workers becoming practice leaders in schools, modelling 
collaborative and relational approaches to working with families. The SWIS project 
aims to raise the profile of social work perspectives, knowledge, skills and values 
across the professional education sector. It is hoped  to create multi-agency contexts 
in which families feel listened to, understood, supported and valued by the 
professionals working with their children. Social Workers will share their unique skill 
sets built on having to combine caring and compassion for parents with a relentless 
focus on the needs of the children 
 
 

Page 37



What Impact are we are seeing so far…… 
 

• Very strong relationships established between school and social work staff 
AND much better understanding of the thresholds and respected challenges 
of each other’s work. 

• Preventative work having a positive impact on children and their families. 
• Social Workers becoming practice leaders in schools, modelling collaborative 

and relational approaches to working with children and families; this is a key 
motivation for us.   

• SWIS has enabled social workers to share a trauma informed and systemic 
model of practice with our education professionals; this has allowed for the 
relationship with our educational partners to grow, allowing it to be more 
collaborative and curious. 

• A joint awareness of individual contexts for children and their families and the 
ability to  consider risks and whether any of the children and families within 
the community of the school are in need of further statutory support. 

• Informal case discussions are now central to the preventative work that has 
been undertaken by the Social Workers in School; discussions at an early 
stage has allowed for threshold to be applied early on and support identified 
and referred to at a much earlier stage then we have seen previously. 

• School staff are beginning to apply a more curious view of children’s individual 
contexts and gaining an understanding of daily lived experience. 

•  
 
Findings from the Social Workers in School Team 
 

• The power and value of relationships  
Multi-agency working “A Whole System Approach” is needed to truly enable a 
response to ‘need’ or ‘risk’.  
 

• How schools are currently functioning and the vital role they play in 
safeguarding children  

In terms of how schools are functioning and their safeguarding role: Lockdown has 
been devastating for children seen as at risk.  
The huge deficits in mental health support for children severely impact education and 
increase risks faced by children  
Processes and school structures can be a barrier for whole-school trauma informed 
approaches to reach children day-to-day  
It has felt at times that schools aren't set up to deal with the individual needs of 
traumatised children over time  
  

• The value of social work expertise in schools  
Schools have said that social work expertise is valuable for functioning schools.  
Almost all DSLs say they want more input and development from social workers.  
 
 
Jean Thompson 
Virtual School Head 
  

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD  
 

                                                  
20 September 2022 

    
TITLE OF REPORT: Missing from care episodes and child sexual 

exploitation for children and young people looked 
after by Gateshead Council             

 
REPORT OF: Helen Ferguson Director Children’s Social Care and 

Early Help 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report provides an updated summary of missing from care episodes from 
August 2021 to July 2022 and an update regarding protection and monitoring of 
child exploitation. 

 
  
 
Background 
 
1.   Young people who go “missing” from their home, foster care or residential care, 
 do so for many complex reasons which cannot be viewed in isolation from their 
 home circumstances and their experience within the Looked After system. It is 
 therefore essential that the Council monitors this closely and understands what 
 is happening for the young people living within the borough. 
 
Policy Context 
 
2. Gateshead Council has clear procedures regarding missing children and young 

people which incorporate a joint protocol between Northumbria Police and 
Children’s Social Care. The procedures and data systems formed part of the 
Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership’s (GSCP’s) oversight of 
arrangements. The protocol was last updated in May 2019 and continues to be 
fit for purpose. Missing from home or care is a priority for the partnership. 

 
Definition of Missing from Care 
 
3. Missing is defined as; 
 

“Anyone whose whereabouts cannot be established will be considered as 
missing until located, and their wellbeing or otherwise confirmed.” 

 
 
4. Every time a child or young person goes missing, they are reported to the police 

as missing, this report sits within a continuum of risk from ‘no apparent risk 

   

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



(absent)’ through to high-risk cases that require immediate, intensive action. 
The police determine the level of risk (low/medium/high) based on the 
information shared with them by the reporting person.  

 
5. All professionals must ensure that all known information held on a child/young 

person is shared with the Police to ensure that the correct level of risk is applied 
– including if child is Looked After or if they have any other vulnerabilities. If 
more information is gained following on from the initial missing report 
practitioners will update the police with this information and they will look to see 
whether the risk level needs to change.  

 
6. A missing category for each young person may be different depending upon the 

management of assessed risks relating to the young person.  
 

• Low - Risk of harm to subject/public is possible but minimal  

• Medium – Risk of harm to subject/public likely but not serious 

• High – risk of ‘serious harm’ to subject/public is assessed as very likely 
(serious harm is defined as – risk that is life threatening and/or traumatic, 
from which recovery, whether physical or psychological can be expected to 
be difficult or impossible) 

Missing 
 
7. Within Gateshead a child is categorised as missing when their location or 

reason for absence is unknown and/or there is cause for concern for the child 
because of their vulnerability or there is a potential danger to the public.  

 
8. A child or young person who is absent should be classified as missing if one or 

more of the criteria below apply:  
 

•   There is identified or imminent risk of the child or young person being 
exposed to significant harm 

•   The child or young person poses a risk of significant harm to others 
•   There are suspicious circumstances  
•   The absence is out of character or unusual behaviour  
•   There are indications that the child has already come to harm  
•   There are indications that the episode is not a deliberate or careless act  
•   There are indications that the child or young person  

o Is not expected to return within reasonable time limits  
o Is not staying at homes of others known to them  
o Will not be easily located  

  
9. If a child or young person is in any of the above categories they must be 

reported as missing.  
 
10. In December 2019 Gateshead implemented the regional Philomena protocol, 

which we use in all our residential homes and fostering placements. This is a 
targeted approach to responding to missing.  This includes completing a 
missing form which contains all the vital information on the child / young person 
including an up to date photograph. The Philomena protocol puts police and 

Page 42



partners on the front foot in the event of a missing episode and all agencies can 
respond quickly and effectively to safely locate the child.  

 
11.The Philomena protocol includes a Return Home interview (RHI), regardless of 

how long they have been missing or how often. The RHI is where an 
independent person meets with the child / young person on their return to 
understand what lead up to their missing episode, understanding what 
happened whilst they were missing and what support / action is required to 
prevent further missing episodes. This includes the findings being recorded on 
a form where the push and pull factors are considered and to allow for more 
narrative (including any previous missing episodes).  

 
Absent 
 
12. There is also an absent category that has the following definition:  
 

Absent - “A person not at a place where they are expected or required to 
be and there is no apparent risk.” 

 
13. Children and young people who are absent should not be ignored and must be 

monitored over periods of time with consideration given to escalating to 
‘missing’ if there is a change to the circumstances that has increased the level 
of risk. 

 
14. Whether the absence is careless (i.e., late home) or deliberate, if there is no 

apparent risk for their immediate safety, or that of the public, absent episodes 
must be carefully monitored. It is also still important that staff/carers record 
these incidences in case the level of risk changes as the child may 
subsequently be categorised as missing.  

 
Categories of risk  
 
15. HIGH  

The risk posed is immediate and there are substantial grounds for believing that 
the child or young person is in danger through their own vulnerability or may 
have been the victim of a serious crime, or  

 
16. The risk posed is immediate and there are substantial grounds for believing that 

the public are in danger.  
 
17. MEDIUM  

The risk posed is likely to place the child or young person in danger or they are 
a threat to themselves or others.  

 
18. LOW  

There is no apparent threat of danger to either the child or young person or the 
public.   

 
 
19. The key messages from research regarding young people Missing from Care 

tells is: 
•   Few young people leave their local area, 

Page 43



 
•   Many stay with friends known to them/relatives, less than a third or a 

quarter sleep rough, 
 

•   Most common reasons for running away are conflict with parents/step 
parents and carers and wanting to spend time with friends and partners, 

 
•   Young people who run away are more likely to be absent from school 

through refusal to attend or exclusion, 
 

•   Young people are at as much risk whether they are missing for the first time 
or on any subsequent occasions, 

 
•   Young people who go missing are often very vulnerable and place 

themselves at risk and are exposed to violence, victimisation, exploitation, 
and involvement in crime 

 
20. It is important that the assessment of risk is a dynamic process and should be 

re-considered and challenged at every point during a child or young person’s 
absence. 

 
Overall data 
 
21. There were 723 missing episodes in total between August 2021 and July 2022, 

for looked after children. This represents an increase in the total number of 
missing episodes compared to 2020-2021 (510) for the same period.  

 
Type No. of Males No. of Females Total  

Missing Episodes 263 460 723 
RHI Assessment    

    
Type No. of Males 

(Individuals) 
No. of Females 

(Individuals) 
Total  

Missing Episodes  38 43 81 
RHI Assessment    

 
22. There is a difference between the number of missing/absent episodes each 

month and the number of missing/absent individuals as some people will have 
more than one episode. 

 
23. Over the last 11 months young people who have been recorded as missing 

from care have in most cases returned to their placements within a reasonable 
time. 

 
24. A small cohort of missing episodes of looked after children are for more than a 

24-hour period.  They are young people who are in the older age group and 
who have had very complex needs and backgrounds. Clear procedures are in 
place to manage these longer episodes. 

 

Page 44



25. Between August 2021 and July 2022 there were 117 episodes where a young 
person was missing or absent for over 24 hours, which is an increase on last 
year (81). 

 
27. It is always a concern when young people are missing for over 24 hours which 

is why it is monitored to see if there are any patterns for individual or groups of 
young people. Targeted interventions are implemented and, disruption plans 
looked at by the multi-agency Missing, Slavery Exploited and Trafficking 
(MSET) group to ensure everyone is doing all they can to keep young people 
safe 

 
Aug 21 – Jul 22 data  
 
Month Total 

missing 
and absent 
episodes 

Episodes 
over 

24 hours 

Episodes 
over 72 
hours 

Number of 
individual 

LAC 

August 49 3 1 21 
September 33 2 1 19 
October 32 3 0 17 
November 63 7 0 25 
December 57 12 5 18 
January 47 12 0 14 
February 49 12 0 18 
March 67 10 0 22 
April 46 14 1 18 
May 79 13 1 24 
June 92 15 2 23 
July 109 14 1 27 
TOTAL 723 117 12  
 

 

Page 45



28. To try and understand the missing episodes of looked after children the 
following data looks at where young people live, and the number of missing 
episodes linked to both residential placements and foster placements. 

 
29. The data demonstrates that there was a significant number of missing episodes 

from our in-house residential provision. These missing episodes relate to a 
relatively small number of young people (9) with one young person having 30 
missing episodes over the 6 month period that placement data is available for. 
Another young person had 27 missing episodes over the same time period, with 
a third having 11 missing episodes over a 5 month period.  

 
30. Interventions and incentives are in place to reduce the number of missing 

episodes for these young people.  These are reviewed to understand impact 
and progress alongside understanding what this means for each young person. 

 
31. In relation to other residential, including out of borough provision, the high 

numbers of missing episodes relate again to a relatively small group of young 
people (16). One young person had 30 missing episodes over the 6 month 
period between August 21 and January 2022, with a further 5 young people 
having between 10 and 12 missing episodes. These are reviewed to 
understand impact and progress alongside understanding what this means for 
each young person. 

 
32. In relation to children placed with in-house foster carers, no child had 10 or 

more missing episodes. Only one child had 9 missing episodes, with the 
majority only having 1 missing episode. These are reviewed to understand 
impact and progress alongside understanding what this means for each young 
person.

Page 46



 
 

 Month 

1 
Residential 
Non-
GMBC 

2 IFA 
Fostering 

3 In-house 
Residential  

4 
Mainstream 
Fostering 

5 Family 
& 
Friends 

8 Placed 
with 
Parents or 
other 
person 
with PR 

9 Bespoke 
Placement 

10 
Other*: 
(P2) Total 

Aug 19 1 20 8 0 1 0 0 49 
Sep 16 3 11 2 1 0 0 0 33 
Oct 18 0 8 5 1 0 0 0 32 
Nov 30 1 21 6 4 0 0 1 63 
Dec 21 0 26 8 0 0 0 2 57 
Jan 6 0 9 5 0 0 0 0 20 
Feb 

DATA CURRENTLY UNAVAILABLE FROM NEW SYSTEM FOR THIS PERIOD 

 
Mar  
Apr  
May  
Jun  
Jul  
Total 110 5 95 34 6 1 0 3 254 
% 43.31% 1.97% 37.4% 13.39% 2.36% 0.39% 0% 1.18% 100% 

 
 
 

P
age 47



 
 
  
 
Return Home Interviews (RHI)  
 
33.  A Return Home Interview is an in-depth conversation with a young person 

who has been reported missing. It should be led by an independent, trained 
professional whom the young person trusts. 

 
34.  This differs from the police Safe and Well Check (which all missing people 

receive on return) and is carried out by skilled and experienced workers to 
determine underlying reasons for the missing episode and wider risks and 
vulnerability factors. The interviews are also used to identify broader trends, 
including “CSE hotspots” and there are clear links into MSET meetings and 
intelligence sharing with police. 

 
35.  Within the period of this report, a total of 1018 offers have been made to 

young people following their return from a missing episode.  The % rate of 
acceptance for young people engaging in a return home interview has 
fluctuated throughout the year and overall, is higher than the previous year. 
The graph below illustrates this with May 2022 seeing the most missing 
episodes in a month with 131 recorded and May 2022 the month where most 
return home interviews were completed at 88. 

 
36. In relation to young people accepting a return home interview, there was a 

clear increase in engagement since Dec 2021. Looking further into the 
outcomes following an offer an interview being made, the number of 
interviews declined by either the young person or their immediate 
parent/carer has decreased from 34.51% last year to 18.37%. This year.  
48.33% of all offers made have been accepted and an interview undertaken.  

Page 48



The ‘subsequent missing episode’ option is used where the young person 
has been reported missing again whilst in the process of being offered an 
initial interview. 

  
37.   The outcome of the return interview is shared with the young person’s social 

worker, the police and any other relevant professionals. In cases where a 
Gateshead child is in our care and placed out of borough the return interview 
is commissioned and undertaken by someone within the area the young 
person lives. This information is shared with the social worker and the 
hosting local authority. 

 
38.   Participation levels for Return Interviews is an area of continued 

development as some young people refuse to engage at all and of the ones 
carried out, young people are often quite reluctant to share the reasons why 
they have gone missing or absent.  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
 
 

 
 
Return Home Interviews – Factors 
 
39. During every return home interview, the young person is encouraged to talk 

about why they went missing to help professionals identify vulnerabilities and 
high-risk concerns. From the data gathered, the two radar charts below 
illustrate the most frequent factors, what has taken place during this missing 
episode and an overall category given to show all high-risk indicators. It is 
evident that the categories of vulnerabilities remain static.  

 
Vulnerabilities 
 

Category Total 
Sexual Exploitation 351 
Criminal Exploitation 358 
Self-Harm 351 
Offending Behaviour 350 
Misuse Of Substances 381 
Trafficking/Modern Slavery 344 
Physical & Emotional Presentation 342 

 
 

Page 50



 
 
 
High Risk Categories 
 
 
 
40.  The most common theme identified for high risk factors was physical and 

emotional wellbeing concerns which related to 197 return home interviews so 
40.96%.  Other noticeable figures from the data were concerns around 
Missing overnight/24 hours (34.72%), substance misuse (26.40) and repeat 
missing episode which was a concerning feature on at least 111 occasions 
(23.08%).  

  
Category Total 

Missing overnight/24 hours 167 
Repeat missing episode 111 
Physical and emotional wellbeing 
concerns  197 
Criminal exploitation 15 
Trafficking 7 
Domestic abuse 4 
Harmed or injured whilst missing 26 
Alcohol/Substance Misuse 127 
Sexual exploitation 18 

 

Page 51



 
 
 

. 
Practice developments 
  
 
41. A Return Home Support Worker role is now established within the Specialist 

Support Team as a dedicated resource. The Return Home Support Worker 
works to quickly build rapport with young people who have been reported 
missing, offer a safe space to talk about why they went missing, what 
happened while they were away and any remaining concerns they may 
have. 

 
42.  The Return Home Support Worker gathers intelligence and advocates on 

behalf of young people to help understand how we can effectively safeguard 
them and prevent further missing episodes.  

 
43.  Since the appointment of the Return Home Support Worker, RHI 

engagement rates have improved along with evidence of high-quality 
interventions. The Return Home Support Worker has a regular presence in 
our Children’s Homes and Young people have requested her support at 
CAMHS and other wellbeing related appointments.  

 
44.  Young people have shared intelligence in relation to concerning activities in 

the community such as underage alcohol sales which have been reported to 
the relevant authorities who have responded accordingly. 

 
45.  The Safeguarding Partnership Executive Group has oversight of all young 

people who are considered high risk. 
 
46.   The local authority will continue to work with all agencies to strengthen work 

to protect those young people vulnerable to exploitation. 
 

Page 52



47.  Return interviews will continue and services will work together to try and 
improve the uptake and quality of these. The dedicated Return Home 
Support Worker has had a significant impact in influencing the uptake of RHI. 

 
48.  Missing from Care co-ordinators from the police are involved in placement 

information meetings in our residential homes and are included in in writing 
and updating risk assessments of young people in placement. 

 
49.  Police and RHI Manager are routinely invited to strategy meetings where 

missing is a feature.  
 
50.  The RHI Manager is an active participant in the weekly Multi Agency 

Exploitation Hub meetings. The purpose of this meeting is to share 
information with police, health, adult & children’s services, Changing Lives, 
Bright Futures and SCARPA. 

 
51.  Police and Children’s Services present a joint report as a standing agenda 

item to the Gateshead Joint Strategic Exploitation Group.  
 
 
 
Recommendation - it is recommended that Corporate Parenting Board Members: 
 

(i) note and comment on the information provided in the report  
 

 
 
 
CONTACT:                     
Claire Morris – Practice Lead, Children in our Care 
Linda Whitehead – Service Manager, Specialist Support Services     

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Gateshead Local Authority 
Sufficiency Strategy for the
Accommodation of Children 
in our Care and Care leavers

2022 – 2025

4556/PS/2022
Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Introduction 

This strategy is for the children and young people of Gateshead. It is about improving outcomes for 
children and young people who are in our care or have been in our care (care leavers) by ensuring 
Gateshead Council have a robust plan in place for ensuring children and young people have suitable 
places to live depending upon their care needs and age. We refer to this as sufficiency planning.  
Local Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure they have a good range of homes for young people 
as well as having a robust plan which outlines how they will meet demand and need. This strategy 
should be read in conjunction with The Children in our Care Reduction Strategy and The Children and 
Young People’s Plan. 

What is sufficiency? 

Sufficiency is where children and young people who are looked after are living. The statutory 
sufficiency duty requires local authorities to do more than simply ensure that accommodation be 
‘sufficient’ in terms of the number of beds provided so children and young people have a roof over 
their head.  It means Local Authorities must have regard to the benefits of securing a range of different 
accommodation types through several providers which meets a wide range of children and young 
people’s needs.  These accommodation solutions range from fostering to residential care, through 
to supported living and semi supported living as well as new and creative solutions which meet the 
young person’s needs. These accommodation solutions need to extend beyond that of the Local 
Authority provisions and include the private and voluntary sector market. 

Securing accommodation requires a whole-system approach which is wider than just childrens social 
care and in particular children in our care.  It includes early intervention and preventive services to 
support children and young people to remain in their families, as well as better services for children 
and young people if they do become looked after. It requires children’s services, adult services, 
commissioning, youth justice, housing, health and education to work together to ensure we have the 
right provision, are delivering the right care or support with good access so that children and young 
people move in and move on in a timely and planned way where this can be achieved.  

Where children or young people move in an unplanned way or during crisis i.e. a young person 
presents as homeless or it is no longer safe for them to remain at home, our sufficiency strategy 
includes our planned response to ensure they too benefit from the right home to meet their need.
The quality and stability for where children in our care or leaving care live is a major driver in our 
improvement activity.  This priority is underpinned by ensuring that children have their needs fully 
assessed which tells us what type of care and support they need, what we need to do as adults 
providing that care and support to better help them achieve their goals and outcomes and that they 
are well-matched with their carer, support team and new home.

2

Page 56



The policy context  

Section 22G of the Children Act 1989, requires Gateshead Local Authority to take steps that secure, 
so far as reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation within the local authority area which meets 
the needs of our child looked after, and whose circumstances are such that it would be consistent with 
their welfare for them to be provided with accommodation that is in the local authority’s area (‘the 
sufficiency duty’). 

The child / young person’s placement must be the most appropriate placement available and we 
will always give preference to a placement with a friend, relative or other connected person first and 
foremost. Where a child or young person is unable to live with a connected carer we will so far as 
reasonably practicable, in all circumstances find a placement that: 

• is near the child’s home [section 22C(8)(a)]

• does not disrupt their education or training [section 22C(8)(b)]

• enables the child to live in accommodation near their brothers and sisters [section 22C(8)(c)]

• where the child is disabled, is suitable to meet the needs of that child [section 

• 22C(8)(d)] and

• within the local authority’s area, unless that is not reasonably practicable [section 22C(9)].

For more detail on the policy context please refer to appendix one. 

3

Page 57



The 5 Guiding principles  

We have 5 Guiding Principles within our Sufficiency Strategy, these are:

1. The voice and needs of children and young people are at the centre of our strategy and its delivery.  

2. We will look to keep children and young people within their family units wherever it is safe to do so, 
so that only those children and young people who need to be in our care, are in our care.

3. We will support carers, providers and children and young people to move in a planned way. 

4. We will ensure we have high quality services and a range of different kinds of homes for all our 
children and young people to ensure there is sufficient choice in the local area. And where a child 
or young person needs to live at a distance from Gateshead that we will ensure their new home is 
safe and supports them to do well.

5. We will work with all our partners and providers to ensure that services are aspirational for children 
and young people, are of high quality and provide good value for money. 

This Strategy outlines how we will meet our sufficiency duty, what we will continue to deliver, what we 
will develop and how we will ensure we listen to the voice of children and young people regarding 
the care and support they receive.  This strategy will talk about:

• the plans for increasing the number of Gateshead Foster Carers (referred to as in house foster carers) 
and the implementation of the Mockingbird model

• the reduction of Independent Fostering Organisations (IFA’s)

• the service improvement plans for the Gateshead owned children’s homes and the partnership with 
external children’s home providers within Gateshead

• the development of the Staying Close Pilot and our future ambitions

• the review of supported living and semi supported living accommodation for children leaving care

• our response to youth homelessness

• new initiatives and the benefits this and the trauma informed approach to care offer for young 
people

• our plans for ensuring we are creating stable homes and reducing the need for children and young 
people to move in an unplanned way

• our active partnership in the Regional Adoption Agency and how this is positively impacting on 
permanence for children and young people. 

4

Page 58



Who needs to know about this? 

Our children and young people need to know what we are doing to ensure we are working hard 
to ensure they live in a home which provides them with exactly what it is to achieve in life and that 
we will be aspirational about their futures.  They need to know that we will look to deliver, develop, 
commission, and review the size of our accommodation offer to make sure we have the right homes 
for children and young people to meet their needs whilst they are in our care and when they have left 
our care. We will ensure we will ask ourselves ‘would this be good enough for my child’ and if it isn’t 
we will change it until it is. 

It is also important that:

• Our Elected Members know about this work and what their role is as a corporate parent is so they 
can champion this agenda and challenge us and our partners to achieve the best outcomes for our 
children and young people

• Our Local Authority Directors and Chief Executives of Services are informed so they can influence 
policy, provision, resources, and partnerships to help us delivery our sufficiency needs

• Our commissioners in joint commissioning hubs, the local authority, the integrated care board and 
youth justice work together for Gateshead, the region and at times nationally to meet need and 
demand

• Our leaders and managers of services for looked after children and young people

• Private, voluntary, and public sector providers understand the need in Gateshead so that together 
we achieve what we have set out to achieve.

The role of the Corporate Parent 

Looking after and protecting children and young people from harm is one of the most important roles 
a Local Authority must undertake. Where a child or young person is in the care of the Local Authority 
or has been in the care of the Local Authority, they become the ‘corporate parent’ irrespective 
of where they live. The Children and Social Work Act 2017, outlines seven Corporate Parenting 
Principles, which the council and their employees must consider when exercising its responsibilities 
to all children in our care and care leavers. These principles are:

1) To act in the best interests, and promote the physical, mental health and   wellbeing, of children 
and young people.

2) To encourage children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings.

3) To consider the views, wishes and feelings of our children and young people.

4) To help children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, services provided by 
the local authority and its relevant partners.

5) To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children and young 
people.

6) For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, relationships, 
education, or work.

7) To prepare children and young people for adulthood and independent living.

5

Page 59



Who are Gateshead’s Children in our Care and Care Leavers?  

As of March 2022:

• 483 children and young people were in the care of the local authority, with 198 new children 
coming into care in the 12 months leading up to March

• 154 children and young people left care between 2021 and 2022. The largest proportion left care 
to return home, followed by Special Guardianship Order and then those turning 18

• 73% of all children in our care have lived with their carer for more than 2.5 year;

• For 7.9% of our children, they moved from one home to another three or more times during 2021-
22

• The number of children living close by and at a distance was 85 as of 31st March 2022

• 28.6% of our children ceased to be in our care as they went to live with their extended family or 
friends following a special guardianship order being granted;

• 91% of young people aged 19-21 who were in our care are in suitable accommodation compared to 
90% of young people aged 17-18;

• Most of our children in our care live with their foster carers as opposed to living in a children’s home, 
secure home or in custody. 

Additional information regarding children in our care and care leavers is available in appendix two. 

Supporting Children to Stay with Their Own Families 

Gateshead Council and their partners are committed to provide a range of services which support 
children, young people, and families to remain together wherever it is safe to do so.  The Council 
services working together to achieve this are:

• Early help and targeted support teams

• the Family Group Conferencing Service

• Play Service

• Complex Child in Need Team

• Pause programme

• Joint commissioning arrangements with the Integrated Care Board and CAMHS, Tier 2 support will 
ensure that children subject to abuse and neglect receive timely and appropriate mental health 
interventions

• The Family Drug and Alcohol Court.

6

Page 60



Kinship carers  

Gateshead are committed to ensuring we support children and young people to remain with their 
families or friends, when it is safe to do so, and they are unable to remain with their birth parents.   

We refer to these carers as Kinship carers in line with Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, Placement 
and Review Regulations (2010).  They are approved as foster carers and receive practical and financial 
support from the Local Authority to ensure they are supported to care for the children and young 
people who they have been assessed for. There is also independently commissioned support for 
carers which is offered by Kinship (a private organisation especially for carers). Supporting and 
encouraging Kinship care is a positive for children and young people and compliments the fostering 
service.  This is a key priority area for us, and we work hard on promoting these arrangements and 
growing the number of kinship carers year on year.  

Foster Care 

Gateshead Foster Carers make up the largest group of people who provide care for children and 
young people in our care. We have a range of carers who look after babies right up to young people 
aged 17.  We also have a range of carers who provide ‘Staying Put’ support for young people who 
continue to live with their foster carers past their 18th birthday.  We average around 149 mainstream 
fostering families working with Gateshead Council to provide a foster family for our children and 
young people, whether this be short term, as part of a respite arrangement or as part of a long-
term match.  We know for most children and young people, where they can no longer continue to 
safely live with their family, foster care is the closest thing to replicating a family home. It is therefore 
essential, we continue to recruit new carers, retain the current carers and develop and support them 
to ensure they provide stable quality care for all children and young people when they need them to 
do so.

To help us achieve this we have developed a new marketing campaign which has an ambitious target 
of recruiting 30 new fostering families a year.  This is a big step for Gateshead and will take us time to 
achieve and embed a campaign that delivers this and it is important we aim high and push ourselves.  
As part of the new campaign, and as part of this strategy we will undertake a review of the support 
and training offer for fostering families, implement the mockingbird model and look to grow the 
Staying Put offer for young people.

7

Page 61



Mockingbird is an innovative method of delivering foster care using an extended family model which 
provides sleepovers, peer support, regular joint planning and training, and social activities. It means 
we have a foster carer family model in the same way as many of us have an extended family to draw on 
and support us. The mockingbird model seeks to improve the stability of fostering families, reducing 
unplanned moves, strengthening the support and relationships between foster carers, children 
and young people, the fostering services and birth families. The model has a Hub home carer (the 
gran or grandad) the Liaison Worker (the fostering social worker) and satellite carers (all the aunties, 
uncles, and children). Gateshead’s first mockingbird model will be implemented in 2022.  Based on 
its success we will look to develop a second mockingbird hub in 2023 and potentially a third hub in 
2024 following evaluation.  

It is our intention to use the mockingbird model and the traditional model to support recruitment of 
new carers, retention of current carers, to help us ensure we have stable fostering families for children 
and young people all of which will ultimately reduce our dependency on the IFA market.  

It is important that we continue to support the IFA market as they play an important role in helping us 
meet the needs of our sufficiency goals, particularly when it is in the child or young person’s interest 
to live outside of Gateshead, whether this be close by or at a distance. However, it is also important 
we achieve best value from a financial perspective, and this is achieved through a top heavy in-house 
fostering model.

8

Page 62



Regional Contracts: Education Health and Social Care 

Gateshead Local authority are a part of two Regional Commissioning models for several different 
service areas. The Education, Health & Social Care interim contract commenced in August 2022 for a 
period of 18mths and covers the following four areas:

1. Department for Education registered, independent special schools and colleges; day placements, 
weekly boarder placements and 52-week residential placements.  All placements in these settings 
for Children and Young People Pre-16

2. Department for Education registered, independent special schools and colleges; day placements, 
weekly boarder placements and 52-week residential placements.  All placements in these settings 
for Children and Young People Post-16

3. Residential Children’s Homes for Children and Young People aged 0 – 18 years

4. Ofsted Registered Residential Short Break Services for Children and Young People 0 – 18 years.

A total of 88 different ‘Lots’ and ‘Bands’ and Additional Services, to enable placements to be bespoke 
for every Child / Young Person.

Providers have also submitted information on Additional Services that they can offer Placing 
Authorities to enable the Authorities to bespoke Placements to the needs of individual Children / 
Young People.

The 79 individual settings brought onto the Flexible Procurement Agreement offer Placements across 
all Lots and Bands with the exception of the following. As we have gaps, targeted work with the 
Provider Market will be undertaken during September 2022 to understand why the Provider Market 
did not bid for these Lots / Bands and encourage them to bid at Opening 1

9

Page 63



Regional Contracts: Fostering and Staying Put 

Gateshead local Authority are also a member of the Tyne Tees Independent Foster Care Services 
contract. This solution covers the requirements of the Participating Authorities for the provision of 
Placements / Arrangements for independent foster care and Staying Put services:

Placement Type 1  Standard Support Foster Care Placements (four age bands: 0 – 4 years,  
    5 – 10 years, 11 – 15 years, and 16 and 17 years)

Placement Type 2  Extra Support Foster Care Placements (four age bands: 0 – 4 years,  
    5 – 10 years, 11 – 15 years, and 16 and 17 years) 

Placement Type 3  Enhanced Support Foster Care Placements (four age bands: 0 – 4 years,  
    5 – 10 years, 11 – 15 years, and 16 and 17 years) 

Placement Type 4  Parent and Baby / Child Foster Care Placements

Placement Type 5  Parent and Baby / Child Assessment Foster Care Placements

Arrangement Type 1 Staying Put Arrangements

It creates opportunities for:

1) Potential to have a positive impact on local sufficiency.  The new Tyne-Tees solution does not, in 
itself, create an immediate increase in local capacity.  However, it does do a number of things 
that will address the sufficiency agenda:

• Brings more Providers onto the Flexible Procurement Agreement (Contract), rising from 
11 Providers on NE7, and 17 Providers on TV5 to 19 on the new Tyne-Tees Solution.  This 
will enable us to engage with a wider portion of the market during our regular Provider 
engagement activity, working with them to increase local capacity.  In addition, we have 
identified a further 14 Providers to contact about applying at opening 1

• As part of their tender submission Providers were required to tell us how they would 
create ‘local places for local Children’.  We will monitor the promised activity described in 
submissions and hold Providers to account for activity and local capacity growth detailed in 
their submissions

• The pricing structure (uncapped), and duration (36 months plus 3 x 12-month options to 
extend, and the structure (a single solution for all NEPO Member Authorities) of the Tyne-Tees 
Solution makes it more attractive for existing Providers to grow capacity in our region and for 
new Providers to enter the region. 

 
2) A further example of collaborative Local Authority working.

3) Appreciation and recognition from Providers that we are working collaboratively.

4) Harmonised terms and conditions across the majority of our Providers.

5) Reduction in off-framework spend.

6) Increased placement choice as new Providers enter the region and existing Provider work with  
NEPO Member Authorities to grow local capacity, and

7) Improved relationship and engagement with the market.

10

Page 64



Regional Contracts: other areas for consideration

Further work in the region is being undertaken to explore the regional commissioning challenges and 
opportunities across a range of Childrens services. We are currently exploring 5 ley market areas:

1. Childrens residential

2. Pre 16 specialist education

3. Post 16 specialist education

4. Independent Fostering Agencies

5. Unregulated placements

However, we are also considering alternative options, that may act as a preventative support to 
prevent the need for placements in the list above.

The current arrangements from a regional commissioning perspective are due to be continued and 
are planned to be reprocured following the extension of the arrangements until July 2023.

The following high priority areas have been identified and discussed:

1. Solo placements (particularly for those children with threatening and challenging behaviours or 
CSE)

2. Supported Accommodation (particularly 16-17 yr olds, young people in transition to adult 
services or following a Tier 4 discharge from CAMHS)

3. Overnight short breaks – including community respite and emergency placements

4. Therapeutic Intervention services – such as behavioural support, occupational therapy and 
speech and language therapy (supporting young people at home or in existing accommodation 
where wrap-around services do not currently exist).

Our Childrens Homes

Gateshead Local Authority have four registered children’s homes, three are therapeutic homes for 
children aged 11 to 17 who care for 14 young people in total and one short break care home for 
children with a disability who provide support to 50 children and young people over the course 
of a year.  All our homes have a stable and experienced residential care team who are committed 
to providing high quality care for young people who present us with some really challenging 
behaviours.  It is important that we ‘stick with’ our young people as this is when they need us the 
most, and by doing so we will hopefully make the difference they need to understand their lived 
experiences and develop the skills and strategies to be safe and achieve as they move into adulthood.  

All the young people living in their Gateshead children’s home benefit from a specialist therapeutic 
psychology team who are dedicated to supporting them by working with their residential team and 
wider care team.  Our residential team are trained in trauma informed care and benefit from clinical 
support, debriefs, direct support and formulation to help them safeguard and care for their young 
people. In addition to the psychology support there is a dedicated staying close worker linked to 
each home, helping young people prepare for moving on and staying close. This is a new area of 
work for us in Gateshead and it really is all about improving stability, helping us work with the most 
challenging young people so that we create stability for them and helping them achieve and aspire to 
achieve.

11

Page 65



To meet need and demand we will be opening more Gateshead Childrens homes.  
By April 2023, we will have an addition two more therapeutic children’s homes, one solo occupancy 
home for children and young people who need an intensive level of care to safeguard them and one 
for young people with additional needs taking our in-house residential homes up to six in total. By 
the end of 2024, we will have one more therapeutic home for young people aged 11-17, taking our 
in-house residential homes up to a total of seven.  

Short Break Care 

Parent and carers of children and young people with special educational needs and / or disabilities 
may sometimes feel like they need a short break from their caring role, with the pandemic placing 
further pressure on families. Children and young people would ordinarily take part in social 
opportunities outside of their education, providing a break for their parent / carer and is intended to 
prevent children requiring statutory services, however not all children are able to access these.

Grove House is our short break home for children and young people with a disability.  The team at 
Grove support up to 50 children and young people over the course of a year dependent upon the 
number of times they go to stay.  The team are passionate about the care and support they provide 
and ensure that children, young people and their families benefit from the respite they need to help 
families stay together, enjoy and achieve. 

In addition to Grove house, we commission a menu of opportunities for children and young people 
unable to take part in the universal offer to allow those parent / carers who need a short break from 
caring, the opportunity to receive one.

Accommodation and/or Support Provision of Complex and Non-
Complex Support for Children and Adults within their own home and 
in the community – Dynamic purchasing System (DPS) Framework

When there is a requirement for supporting children or families in need and/or with learning 
disabilities, mental health and physical disabilities for Home Care and Community Outreach 
support then our approach is initially to contact our approved providers appointed to the DPS 
Accommodation and / or Support Framework for Specialist Services.

This is an overarching pseudo dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for the provision of accommodation 
and/or support the lots available are as follows: 

Lot 1: Accommodation. 

Lot 2: Support. 

Lot 3: Accommodation and Support. 

Lot 4: Innovation. 

Additional lots may be added during the contract duration. Tenderers can request to participate in 
one or more lots there is no limit on the number of lots in which a tenderer can request to participate. 
When additional lots are added providers, who are already appointed to the DPS are welcome to 
apply subject to any requirements of the lot(s). Appointed providers will not need to submit another 
full request to participate only the necessary information for that lot. Details of the services and pricing 
are included within the specification and/or the call-off document.

12

Page 66



For general support packages all Providers on the Framework are approached for availability and 
ability to meet the requirements and often, time constraints, of the request being made. 

If no Providers on the Framework can support the request we will contact other local Providers to 
determine who can meet the request. 

Off framework Providers and new Providers are regularly informed about and invited to join the DPS in 
order to secure future work.   

Staying Close  

We were successful in achieving Department of Education Staying Close funds in June 2022. This 
funding has enabled us to offer a package of support for our young people who are moving on from 
in house and external residential children’s homes and supported living which builds on the current 
leaving care offer.  2022 – 2025 are the pilot years for the Gateshead’s Staying Close model which 
will see us, appoint a four-person staying close team who will develop a getting ready programme, 
establish our first staying close homes for young people moving on from their residential care home 
and coproduce a sustainable staying close model for all future care leavers. 

Over the three years the Staying Close model will support 26 young people. It is our ambition that this 
model develops one of the right solutions for the young people leaving our care ensuring it can be 
embedded as one of the core elements within our sufficiency offer. 

13

Page 67



Supported Lodging and semi supported living 

Gateshead Local Authority work closely with the external provider market ensure there is a clear 
pathway for young people whose needs are best met through a supported living or semi supported 
living arrangement.  This means any young person 16 plus (based on school leaving age) can live 
alongside other young people in their own flat where 24/7 or day support is offered.  This is our main 
offer for young people leaving care or who present as homeless and do not require residential care or 
foster care due to their needs and their age.  

Supported Lodgings provides accommodation for care leavers aged 16-21 years old who would 
benefit from support within a home environment and is a particularly valuable resource for young 
people who may struggle within a shared accommodation setting and who are not ready for 
independent living. Supported Lodgings also provides an alternative option for those care leavers 
who may not have been able to ‘Stay Put’ with their foster carers but still seek living within a ‘home’ 
environment. 

Currently all young people go through the SAILS pathway, this is basically a panel process which 
determines the suitable accommodation type based on the young persons assessment.  This panel is 
made up of social care and commissioning representatives and ensures there are effective systems in 
place to meet demand and need. Colleagues from the external provider market also sit on the panel 
as part of the review of progress for the young people living in the supported or semi supported 
accommodation. The 24/7 supported living provider who undertakes a further assessment of the 
young person’s needs to make a recommendation on where they move to next.  The 27/4 supported 
and semi supported living provider where young people move onto, or where they move straight to if 
their needs are very well understood and previously assessed to make such a recommendation.  

In March 2022 we started a full review of the Gateshead Housing offer.  This review is being 
undertaken by Cambell Tickell in conjunction with Gateshead Council.  This review will ensure we 
have:

• Reviewed our post 16 accommodation offer to meet needs,

• Reviewed contracts to ensure supply and availability in the current and future market,

• Aligned hosing provision which meets a diverse range of need,

• Strengthened our accommodation offer to those seeking refuge from domestic abuse,

• Improved the pathway for youth homelessness,

• Reviewed the SAILS model to ensure our systems and processes are streamlined and flexible 
enough to respond to changing needs, 

• Growth of housing stock through the provider market. 

This review will be completed in 2023 and implementation will be swift. For now, all supported living 
and semi supported living contracts with providers have been extended to ensure we are supporting 
our care leaving young people until the review of service has been concluded and timescale for the 
recommendations signed off.

14

Page 68



Our offer to Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Young People 

Under the National Transfer Scheme (NTS) unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) benefit 
from being fostered, living in a children’s home or moving into supported living. Since directed transfers 
under the mandated NTS started in December 2021, the rate of transfers to local authorities with 
children’s services across the country has significantly increased. The ratio is set by central government 
and Gateshead support several UASC.  The notice period set by government is a challenge, so we are 
working closely with our colleagues in housing to ensure we have housing stock which can support 
young people.  Equally we are part of a regional campaign to recruit foster carers specifically for 
UASC. As part of this offer young people also benefit from outreach support which looks t meet their 
individual needs and helps them develop the knowledge and skills required to live, access education 
or employment and meet friends who support them to enjoy a safe and active social life.

Adoption 

Foster to Adopt allows those who want to adopt children to foster them while they are waiting for the 
court to decide if adoption is the right plan for the child. This provides continuity of care for the child, 
as they do not have to be placed with temporary foster carers. When children are placed under these 
arrangements it is unlikely that the child will be rehabilitated to birth parents. However, all adopters 
approved under Foster to Adopt are trained and understand the expectation of them supporting the 
child and working with professional to rehabilitate the child to the care of their birth family if required.

Our Regional Adoption Agency is positively impacting on permeance for children and young people. 
Following on from delays as result of the Somerset Ruling, we are back on track ensuring our children 
and young people benefit from permanence through adoption. Dedicated support during the 
assessment period ensures our adoptive carers are supported not only during the assessment but 
once the adoption order is granted. 

In addition to the support offered through the adoption agency parents also benefit from support 
from the Startwell programme which is led by Barnardo’s.  This work complements that of the newly 
established pre-birth team which will seek to support pregnant mam’s who have already had one 
child removed from their care to hopefully be able to safely care for their newborn child at home.

15

Page 69



How do we know we are getting there?

We have developed a set of performance indicators which will help us see the progress we are making, 
this is of course linked to delivering the priorities and making sure our children, young people, their 
families, and their carers tell us we are doing well.  To measure our progress, we will be:

• Consulting with children, young people, their families, and their carers.  We will use this information 
to shape services, tell the story about what we have done and how we have done it and use it to 
inform future planning.

• We will coproduce service – Staying Close and the Housing Review being prime examples of this.

• Embed developments within our Corporate Parenting Strategy and the Commissioning Market 
Position Statement

• We will use data.  See appendix three for the data list. This is not the only data and as we make 
progress the list will grow to ensure we are delivering on what we have said we would. 

Conclusion 

The aim of this Strategy is to ensure that children and young people in our care and care leavers have 
stable, high-quality homes, where their needs can be met and their outcomes met, enabling them 
to return home where this is in their best interests or move on to adulthood prepared and ready. As 
corporate parent, the whole Council has a role to play to improve the outcomes for our children and 
young people always challenging ourselves by asking whether this would be good enough for our 
own child. This Strategy and the delivery of its key priorities form just one part of our overall approach 
to supporting children in our care and care leavers.

16

Page 70



Appendix One: The Legislation and Policy Context

16

Excerpt from the Children Act 1989:

22G General duty of local authority to secure sufficient accommodation for looked after children

(1) It is the general duty of a local authority to take steps that secure, so far as reasonably  
practicable, the outcome in subsection (2). 

(2) The outcome is that the local authority are able to provide the children mentioned in 
subsection (3) with accommodation that - 

(a) is within the authority’s area; and 

(b) meets the needs of those children. 

(3) The children referred to in subsection (2) are those - 

(a) that the local authority are looking after; 

(b) in respect of whom the authority are unable to make arrangements under section 
22C(2); and 

(c) whose circumstances are such that it would be consistent with their welfare for them to 
be provided with accommodation that is in the authority’s area.

 
(4) In taking steps to secure the outcome in subsection (2), the local authority must have 

regard to the benefit of having - 

(a) a number of accommodation providers in their area that is, in their opinion, sufficient to 
secure that outcome; and 

(b) a range of accommodation in their area capable of meeting different needs that is, in 
their opinion, sufficient to secure that outcome. 

(5) In this section ‘accommodation providers’ means - local authority foster parents; and 
children’s homes in respect of which a person is registered under Part 2 of the Care 
Standards Act 2000.

Page 71



17

Section 22A of the Children Act 1989 imposes a duty on the responsible authority when a child is 
in their care to provide the child with accommodation.

Section 22B of the Children Act 1989 sets out the duty of the responsible authority to maintain a 
looked after child in other respects apart from providing accommodation.

Section 22C of the Children Act 1989 sets out the ways in which a looked after child is to be 
accommodated.

Section 22D of the Children Act 1989 imposes a duty on the responsible authority to formally 
review the child’s case prior to making alternative arrangements for accommodation.

Section 22G of the Children Act 1989 requires local authorities to take strategic action in respect 
of those children they look after and for whom it would be consistent with their welfare for them 
to be provided with accommodation within their own local authority area.

Section 7 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, which requires local authorities, in the 
exercise of their social services functions, to act under the general guidance of the Secretary of 
State. 

Section 10 (8) of the Children Act 2004 Act, which requires all local authorities in England and 
each of their relevant partners to have regard to guidance from the Secretary of State when 
exercising their functions in relation to their duty to co-operate to improve the wellbeing of 
children in the local area.

Children and Young Persons Act 2008

Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000

Children and Family Act 2014

Children and Social Work Act 2017

Statutory Guidance on Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked After Children 2010

Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010, 2015

Page 72



18

Appendix Two: 

Children looked after rate, per 10,000 children under 18

This data is taken from the published SSDA903 results for 2019/20 and 2020/21, plus our submitted 
SSDA903 return for 2021/22. Hence there is no comparison data yet for 2021/22.

% Children looked after by age group
This data is taken from Gateshead’s submitted SSDA903 return for 2021/22.

Page 73



19

% Children looked after by placement type
This data is taken from Gateshead’s submitted SSDA903 return for 2021/22.

Appendix Three: Performance Indicators  

1) Number of unplanned moves from one home to another for children in our care and care leavers

2) Percentage of children in our care with 3 or more placements within a 12-month period

3) Percentage of children in our care continuously for 2.5 years or more aged under 16 

4) Number of children and young people who were living in the same home for at least 2 years

5) Percentage of care leavers living in suitable accommodation

6) Number of unregulated placements made

7) Number of children in our care living close by and at a distance

8) Number of children adopted

9) Number of children and young people with a plan of permanence, and where they live because 
of their permeance

10) Number of children and young people living with their family that are in 

11) Receipt of respite

12) Number of children and young people living with their IFA family

13) Number of foster carers approved at panel and deregistered within the last 12 months

14) Number of children and young people living within their external residential children’s home and 
residential education home

15) Number of delayed discharges from a tier 4 hospital setting

Details of the priorities, milestones, timescales and the lead person can be found in the Service Plans.

Page 74



Gateshead Local Authority Sufficiency Strategy for the
Accommodation of Children in our Care and Care leavers

2022 – 2025

© Gateshead Council 2022

4556/PS/2022

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

20 September 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Financial Support offer to Care Experienced young people 
 

 

Purpose of the Report  
1. To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the current offer of financial 

support for care leavers. This will include areas around financial support, financial 

education and advice and readiness for independent living.  

 

 

Background 
2. Due to the current cost of living crisis and ongoing issues around financial support 

for children who are care experienced the service and corporate parenting board 

agreed that a review of the current offer was needed. It was also agreed that this 

needed to consider the financial education offered to care experienced young 

people and general preparation for living independently.  

 

3. To place our current offer within a local context we undertook a bench marking 

exercise to look at Gateshead’s Local Offer to our care experienced young people 

and how this compares to the offer from neighbouring authorities. These are listed 

below.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



 2 

  Gateshead  Newcastle  Sunderland  S/Tyneside  N/Tyneside  Darlington  

Accommodation Financial Support:  

Council Tax 

Exemption  

x  x  x  x  x  x  
 

Setting Up 

Home 

Allowance  

£2000  £2000  £3000  £2300  £2000  £2000  
 

Starter Pack 

(first home)  

x      x      
 

TV License  1st TV 

license  

    1st TV 

License  

    
 

Winter 

Fuel Payment  

x £30 per 

month Nov-

Mar 

    x    x  
 

EET Financial Support:  

Higher 

Education 

Finance (Virtual 

School)  

£2000  £2000  £2000  £2000  £2000  £2000  

 

Higher 

Education 

Accommodation 

Costs  

Max £6000  x  Max £6000  x  x  x  

 

EET Incentive  x      x       

Health:   

Leisure Pass  Free  Discounted    Free  Discounted     

Health 

Passport  

x  x  x  x  x  x  
 

Other financial Support:  

Birthday 

Allowance   

x  x  x  x  x  x  
 

Christmas 

Allowance  

x  x  x  x  x  x  
 

Emergency 

financial 

support 

x  x  x  x  x  x  
 

 

 

Page 78



 3 

Financial Support 
 

The table above shows that Gateshead compares very favourably to our regional 

neighbours. While we should be rightly proud of this, they are also all currently 

reviewing their offers in light in the inflation and cost of living crisis.  

 

In relation to the current offer, it is worth breaking down the details of each element 

and the aim of the financial assistance.  

 

4. Setting Up Home Allowance: This is £2000 to furnish a tenancy, this would 

include decorating, furniture, soft furnishings etc. This has not changed since 2010, 

using the bank of England inflation calculator this amount to keep pace with inflation 

up to 2021 would need to rise to £2,494.89. 

 

5. Moving In Pack £60: This is broken down into £20 Food £20 cleaning products 

£10 Gas £10 Electricity and provided to young people when they move into their 

first tenancy. This amount has remained the same since 2014. 

 

6. Winter Fuel Allowance: This is £30 per month paid towards the cost of young 

people’s utility bills from November to March inclusive. This increased from £20 last 

year.  

 

7. Council Tax Exemption: Our Care experienced young people are exempt from 

council tax until the age of 25. This includes those young people living out of 

borough.   

 

8. Education Employment & Training incentive: This is a maximum of £70 per 

month depending on the number of hours a young person engages in some form 

of EET. It is paid based on young people having 90% attendance per month.  This 

amount has not changed since 2014.  

 

9. TV License: We pay for the young person’s first year of TV license.   

 

10. Birthday Allowance:  Birthday allowances are paid to young people on their 

birthday.  They receive £20 for 18th, 19th and 20th birthdays and £50 on 21st 

birthday. These amounts are unchanged since 2009/10 

Page 79



 4 

11. Christmas Allowance: Young people living independently will receive a £10 gift 

voucher. This has remained the same since 2009/10 

 

12. Leisure Pass: Young people receive free access to all Gateshead Council’s gym, 

swimming pools and classes until the age of 25.   

 

13. Household Support Grant: This was issued to the Local Authority from the 

Government, and we distributed £250 per care experienced young person between 

Jan-March 2022 as per Government guidance.  There is another Household 

Support Grant payment expected later this year.   

 

14. Travel Pilot: We are working with Nexus and CCG to provide a free Network 1 

travel pass from Sept 22-Aug 23. Retail cost of Network 1 Travel Pass is £1150 

each.  Further information on the Travel Pilot below.  

 

Practical Support 
 

15. Personal Adviser is allocated at 16 to co-work with the Social Worker between 16-

18 and support the young person’s plan. (See Allocations and Transfer document 

below for further details).  

 

16. Personal Adviser will support the young person (and carers where appropriate) with 

preparation for independence using the Getting Ready for Adult Life Workbook and 

other preparation for independence Tools. They complete these tasks as part of 

their visits with young people when they are co allocated and the young person is 

aged 16-18.  

 

17. Personal Adviser will support the Social Worker to complete the Support 

Accommodation & Independent Living Service (SAILS) Assessment and attend 

SAILS panel to identify move on accommodation. This includes the following 

options, 24/7 supported accommodation with Home Group, Semi supported 

accommodation support from 8am to 8pm, assessment unit managed by Changing 

Lives 24/7 support for 52 days and taster flats which would include an agreed 

number of hours of floating support depending on the needs of the child.  
 

   
Page 80



 5 

18. Personal Adviser will support their young people to understand their 

accommodation options, which will include visits to accommodation providers, the 

young person being included and an active participant in the assessment process 

and in their pathway plan.   

 

19. The Care Leavers App helps keep young people informed of their rights and 

entitlements. It is updated with new information, events, and activities to keep 

young people informed. The app can be accessed offline meaning that young 

people do not always need data available to be able to access this information.  

  

20. Personal Advisers refer young people to the Two-Way Tenancy Programme which 

is a short course which helps prepare young people for living independently, this is 

focussed on supporting young people around their knowledge of their responsibility 

in managing their tenancy.   

 

Future Developments 

Taster Flat 

21. As part of our service improvement and developing our offer, the Leaving Care 

Team have worked closely with Gateshead Housing to develop a Taster Flat 

scheme. This will allow young people who are aged 17 the opportunity to have a 

taste of living independently. The young people will move into a Taster Property for 

a period of 6 weeks and within this time they will receive a tight support package 

from their Carers, Social Worker and Personal Adviser. The young people will 

receive a weekly living allowance which they will be supported to budget for utilities, 

food and travel which will replicate their financial responsibilities when living 

independently. 

 

22. The taster flat experience will help prepare young people to understand the level 

of responsibility of living in their own property, and understand the practicalities of 

living alone, as well as some of the challenges such as loneliness. It is hoped this 

experience will help young people make a more informed decision about their 

future plans, help them prepare for independent living and may encourage more 

Page 81



 6 

young people to consider alternative options to moving into independence, such as 

staying put with their current foster carers. 

 

23. When Taster Flats are not occupied, they can be used by Personal Adviser’s to 

undertake preparation for independence direct work with young people between 

the ages 16-18. Tasks such as shopping on a budget, batch cooking, changing a 

plug, changing a light bulb etc. 

 

Independent Living Skills Programme  

24. We would like to look at the tools we currently use (Getting Ready for Adult Life 

etc) and create a Resource Library which is specific for Gateshead’s care 

experienced young people. This will be shared with Social Workers, Carers, 

Children’s Home staff and Personal Adviser so that all professionals are working 

with the young person to help prepare them for adult life and moving into 

independence, using the agreed tools and resources that we feel best support this 

work and the development of these skills. 

 

Programme of activities  

25. We have applied for external funding to plan a programme of activities for young 

people to get involved in. This will include sporting activities such as football and 

walks, as well as practical activities such as cookery and photography groups. We 

are also working alongside Gateshead Workforce Development colleagues to 

deliver some formal qualifications such as Health and Safety, Food Hygiene 

Courses and others to contribute towards their skills and qualifications and 

enhance their training and employability options 

 

Travel Pilot  

26. The Leaving Care Team worked closely with partners from the Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) to secure funding of £45k to support travel for care 
Page 82



 7 

experienced young people. This was because of work completed with Newcastle 

and Gateshead care experienced teams and the CCG around young people’s 

access to health services. 

 

27. Gateshead currently has 104 young people open to the Leaving Care Team. 

Approximately 65 of these young people live independently in the community in 

their own tenancy. Many of these young people do not have family, friends or 

support networks outside of professionals. Travelling via public transport is often a 

luxury they cannot afford to prioritise given the current cost of living and the financial 

resources available to them especially if they are not in EET. The Travel Pilot will 

support young people living independently by offering these young people free 

travel within the region for a period of 12 months. 

 

28. Prior to receiving the free travel pass, the young people will be required to complete 

a questionnaire to gather their views on their current circumstances / barriers and 

the impact of not being able to afford to meet travel costs. The young person’s PA 

would continue to maintain regular contact with the young people over the free 

travel period. At the end of the 12 months, they would complete an evaluation to 

measure the difference having access to free access to travel has made to their 

life, mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

 

29. The feedback and evaluation will be used to support requests for partner 

organisations offering free or discounted travel as part of their “Corporate Parent” 

responsibility to care experienced young people and could contribute to regional 

work undertaken in the future. 

 

Regional Leaving Care Forum  

30. Regular meetings with the Regional Leaving Care Forum to share examples of 

good practice, ensure Gateshead are keeping up with our counterparts across the 

region and contributing to matters which impact on care experienced young people 

Page 83



 8 

across our region to reduce the ‘postcode lottery’ of care leavers being offered 

different support depending on where they are living. 

31. There is a formal Training programme for Personal Advisers via the Regional 

Leaving Care Forum, to ensure our Personal Advisers continue to provide a high 

standard of support to our care experienced young people. 

 

Care Leaver Covenant  

32. The service continues to work with the Care Leaver Covenant to share good 

practice, create new opportunities and access wider opportunities via a range of 

sectors for our care experienced young people. What support can the wider council 

provide in supporting the service to engage with business to support our work.  

 

Drop in Service  

33. The service is looking at creating a drop in provision for our young people to attend 

as and when support is required on an evening, to make support accessible for all 

young people. This could include advice around benefits, employment, education, 

training as well as practical and emotional support.  

 

Utilities  

34. We are in the process of gathering data from young people to find out what they 

are paying for their utility costs. The purpose of this is to explore if there is one 

provider cheaper than another, what methods of payment are open to our young 

people and how does this impact what they pay for the utilities.  

35. Once we have this information, we could feed this into the Regional Leaving Care 

Forum and Care Leaver Covenant and see if we can approach government and 

utility providers to offer some form of discount to care experienced young people. 

 

Setting Up Home Allowance (SUHA)  

Page 84



 9 

36. The current budget for SUHA is £2000 and has remained the same since 2010. It 

is now very challenging to furnish and prepare a property for £2000. Gateshead 

Housing tenancies have no carpet/flooring which instantly takes up 25% of the 

budget. Sunderland have recently increased their SUHA to £3000 and if a young 

person is moving into a Local Authority tenancy, they add the cost of carpets to this 

amount. The service would like to request a SUHA to make it £2,500 which would 

be inline with the inflation rises since 2010. The service will also be working with 

housing colleagues to explore flooring/carpeting and furniture packs available via 

the local authority and seeing what support is available from them in meeting these 

costs.  

 

Corporate parenting support across the council 

37. Corporate parenting needs to be a whole council approach to supporting our young 

people. Historically there has been sign up from different areas but little has 

materialised from some areas. The service would welcome Corporate Parenting 

Boards suggestions about what can we do to change this to create positive change 

for our young people in how they are supported in their journey towards 

independence.  

 

Proposal 
 

38. It is proposed that corporate parenting board consider the future planning around 

service developments and provide any comments or suggestions around this 

program of work, with a particular focus on how we can gain buy in across council 

departments that can support care experienced young people’s journey into 

independence 

 

39. The regional care leavers board across the NE12 authorities are also considering 

the standardisation of local authorities offers to care leavers. It is proposed that 

the outcomes and recommendations of this work is shared with Corporate 

Parenting Board.  

 

 
Page 85



 10 

Recommendations 
 

40. The Corporate Parenting Board are asked to note the comments of this report 

and offer any comments or recommendations as they see fit.  

 
Contact: Ben van Wagtendonk 
     benvanwagtendonk@gateshead.gov.uk 
     0191 4332797 

Page 86

mailto:benvanwagtendonk@gateshead.gov.uk


Corporate Parenting Board – 20 September 2022 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT:  Work of Young Ambassadors    
 
REPORT OF: Helen Fergusson, Strategic Director, Children’s Social Care and Lifelong 
Learning 
 
Summary  
 
This report provides a summary of the work of Gateshead’s Young Ambassadors since 
commencing employment in January 2022.  
 
Background 
 
Agreement was given by Children, Adults and Families GMT in 2021 to create three 6-hour 
per week posts, ringfenced for care experienced children and young people, aged 16-25 
years.  
 
Aisha Imran, Jake Curbison and Mariceu Neto were appointed into these posts and started 
working for the Council in January 2022.  
 
The Young Ambassadors were allocated two Corporate Parenting themes each. 
 

• Aisha Imran  
o Participation  
o Accommodation and Placements 

• Jake Curbison  
o Health   
o Education, Training and Employment 

• Mariceu Neto  
o Leaving Care  
o Arts, Leisure and Activities 

 
These themes guide their daily work, however additional work outside of these broad themes 
has also been undertaken.  
 
The key roles of these posts include:  
 

• Supporting the Children in Care Council to run its campaigns. 
• Working with children and young people to promote involvement. 
• Using social media to promote the children and young people’s campaign. 
• Be an ambassador for children in care and care leavers in various meetings and 

forums.  
• Be a key contact for the North East Regional Children in Care Council. 
• Contribute to meetings of the Corporate Parenting Partnership and subgroups. 
• Represent Gateshead on the Regional NE Children in Care Council.  
• Assist in the running of the annual Celebration Event. 
• Such other responsibilities allocated which are appropriate to the grade of the post. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



 
What have the Young Ambassadors been doing? 
 
Mariceu Neto 
 
During my time as being a Young Ambassador, I feel as though I have learnt so much so far. 
I have gained experience and helpful knowledge. 
 
We visited Parliament for “It’s Our Care – Day of Action” to discuss and share our views on 
how children and young people really feel about being looked after. This gave us the 
opportunity to meet with MP’s to discuss the Care Review written by Josh Macalister. We 
met MP’s from the North East including Liz Twist. 
 
I have helped organise activities for care leavers during the summer holidays. This has 
included running some of the activities like our TikTok project (Videos coming soon).  
 
I was also able to be a part of a training session for agency carers, who were looking after 
one of our young people.  
 
Going forward I want to: 
 

o Help with the Celebrating Achievements Awards. 
o Visit One Voice and other groups. 
o Help organise a Christmas day/party event.  
o Help with more training sessions. 
o Organise an ongoing group for Care Leavers. 

 
Aisha Imran 
 
During my time as a Young Ambassador, I have achieved a few things. I started off with 
familiarising myself with the many professionals in Gateshead Council who have an input in 
children’s and young people’s lives.  
 
I worked with Jake to deliver Corporate Parenting Training to Elected Members. 
 
I have completed consultations with young people by visiting the Children’s Homes and 
attending the Big Red Bus holiday activity programme. Following on from the consultations, I 
have shared the information with the relevant professionals, resulting in young people’s 
voices being heard.  
 
I have been spending time with the young people and building a rapport with them; this has 
been positive in allowing them to have another person to share their views and thoughts 
with. I have been feeding their views into the Reg 44 visits, I have even completed some 
visits with Kim Leighton. 
 
In October half term, I am due to deliver some healthy relationships/online safety workshops 
at our Children’s Homes over 2 days. This is in collaboration with Laura Moat from the 
Domestic Abuse team.  
 

Page 88



I have been part of the Mockingbird steering group and going forward, I will be helping 
deliver the mockingbird initiative to the young people involved. I will be explaining to them 
what Mockingbird means for them. Lastly, I will be helping Chris, organise the Celebrating 
awards night.  
 
I look forward to continuing make positive changes for the children and young people we 
work with. 
 
Jake Curbison 
 
During my time with Gateshead council, as a young ambassador, I have had the pleasure of 
meeting and working alongside a range of people.  
 
Through being a young ambassador I have had the opportunity to work with young people 
and hear about all their interesting stories and lives. 
 
I have assisted with delivering Corporate Parenting Training to Elected Members. 
 
I have been attending the LAC be Healthy Group representing the views of children and 
young people.  
 
I lobbied MP’s in Parliament, when Mariceu and I attended It’s Our Care – Day of Action. We 
got to listen to Josh MacAlister, who lead the independent review of Children’s Social Care. 
 
I also now assist the children’s society with their projects involving young people, in relation 
to the Rise programme. I also work alongside Northumbria police on their IYAG which aims 
to bring the police closer to young people. 
 
I am looking forward to helping plan the Celebrating Achievement Awards. 
 
Work Requests 
 
If you want to request the Young Ambassadors assistance with any work, this can be made 
via this link - Work Request Form or by emailing chrishulme@gateshead.gov.uk. 

Contacting the Young Ambassadors 
 
The Young Ambassadors can be contacted via email or Teams.  
 

aishaimran@gateshead.gov.uk 

mariceuneto@gateshead.gov.uk 

jakecurbison@gateshead.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 89

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fforms.office.com%2FPages%2FResponsePage.aspx%3Fid%3Debn7CRdDIU2ctuWIERac2ALhw-FqyHhBtnwQDFnCVE5URVM3MzdOMExXMTBSQ1BMNlVKQ0xaVldWUi4u&data=04%7C01%7CChrisHulme%40gateshead.gov.uk%7Cedc64f942e834a34826608d9fc3b53ce%7C09fbb97943174d219cb6e58811169cd8%7C0%7C0%7C637818154015101221%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=PmyeA4LxnSCqWdKJQnsX5Zdf0YNDkbasyccV7iuIDV8%3D&reserved=0
mailto:chrishulme@gateshead.gov.uk
mailto:aishaimran@gateshead.gov.uk
mailto:mariceuneto@gateshead.gov.uk
mailto:jakecurbison@gateshead.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of last meeting and Action List
	Action List

	3 The Independent Review of Children's Social Care
	The independent review of children’s social care
	Background to the review
	Reset children’s social care
	A Revolution in Family Help
	Slide Number 5
	Unlocking the potential of family networks
	Transforming care
	The care experience
	Realising the potential of the workforce
	A system focused on children and families
	Implementation
	Government response
	It’s Our Care - Day of Action
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	4 Health of Looked After Children Annual Report
	Executive Summary
	This report gives an overview of the work undertaken and planned, to meet statutory requirements and to support the health and wellbeing of Looked After children / Children in our care and by association care leavers/ care experienced young people in Gateshead. It also outlines to organisational changes in the NHS structures that came into force in July 2022 relating to commissioning of specialist health services to meet the needs of Children in care.
	Purpose of the Report

	5 Initiatives in Schools
	6 Missing from Care Annual Report
	CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD
	20 September 2022
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Background
	Policy Context
	Recommendation - it is recommended that Corporate Parenting Board Members:


	7 Sufficiency Strategy
	8 Financial Support Offer to Care Experienced Young People
	Purpose of the Report

	9 Work of Young Ambassadors

